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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND 
ETHICS IN WASHINGTON, et al., 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
  v.    
  
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION, 
 
   Defendant, 
 
CROSSROADS GRASSROOTS POLICY 
STRATEGIES 
1401 New York Ave., NW 
Ste. 1200 
Washington, DC 20005,    

Proposed Intervenor- 
   Defendant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Civil Action No.  1:16-cv-00259-BAH 

 
CROSSROADS GRASSROOTS POLICY STRATEGIES’  

MOTION TO INTERVENE AND MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT 

 Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies (“Crossroads GPS”) respectfully moves pursuant 

to Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a) & (b) for leave to intervene as a defendant and to file the attached answer 

to the complaint.  A supporting declaration and proposed order also are attached.1 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington and its supporters (collectively 

“CREW”) brought this lawsuit as part of a campaign to compel the Federal Election Commission 

(“FEC” or “Commission”) to pursue sanctions against Crossroads GPS.  CREW seeks a 

judgment declaring that the FEC’s dismissal of CREW’s administrative complaint against 

                                                            
1 Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 7(m), counsel for Crossroads GPS conferred several times with counsel for the above-
captioned Plaintiffs and Defendant over recent weeks concerning this motion.  Counsel for Plaintiffs advised that 
Plaintiffs do not oppose the motion.  After repeated deferrals, however, counsel for Defendant FEC ultimately said 
the agency would not be able to provide its position on intervention until its date to respond to the Complaint.  To 
avoid any issue of timeliness, Crossroads GPS is filing its motion now. 
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Crossroads GPS was contrary to law and ordering the FEC to conform to that declaration.  

CREW also seeks invalidation of an FEC regulation that supported the Commission’s dismissal.  

As the target of CREW’s attack, Crossroads GPS seeks to intervene and defend the dismissal it 

won from the FEC and the regulation that is under challenge. 

 Crossroads GPS recently established its right to intervene in similar circumstances in 

Crossroads GPS v. FEC, 788 F.3d 312 (D.C. Cir. 2015).  And another similarly situated target of 

a dismissed FEC complaint then was granted intervention without opposition.  See Citizens for 

Responsibility and Ethics in Washington, et al. v. FEC, No. 1:14-cv-01419-CRC (D. D.C. Aug. 

13, 2015) (order granting motion to intervene). 

 In the former Crossroads case, as here, private parties had sued the FEC to resurrect an 

administrative complaint against Crossroads GPS that the Commission had dismissed on an 

equally divided vote.  When the district judge denied intervention, the Court of Appeals stayed 

the underlying litigation and then reversed, holding that intervention was required.  In addition to 

confirming that, as the target of a dismissed administrative complaint, Crossroads GPS had 

standing to defend the dismissal, Crossroads, 788 F.3d at 316-19, the Court of Appeals held that 

the four Rule 12(a) standards for intervention of right were satisfied on grounds equally 

applicable here: 

1. Intervention was timely because Crossroads GPS moved to intervene before the 

FEC responded to the complaint.  This motion is equally timely. 

2. Crossroads GPS had a clear and legally protected interest in defending the 

dismissal to protect itself from “further exposure to enforcement proceedings 

before the FEC” and from potential “civil liability via private lawsuit.”  Id. at 318-

20.  Crossroads GPS has the same interests here, both as to dismissal of the 
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administrative complaint and as to the regulation CREW attacks in an effort to 

undermine the dismissal. 

3. Crossroads GPS’s interests faced practical impairment because the judgment 

being sought could be used to support any future FEC or private enforcement 

proceedings against Crossroads GPS.  Id. at 320.  The same interests are at stake 

here. 

4. The FEC did not adequately represent Crossroads GPS’s interests.  The 

Commission’s broad governmental interests in enforcing the Federal Election 

Campaign Act (“FECA” or “Act”) are distinct from Crossroads GPS’s private 

interests in defending itself.  Id. at 321.  Moreover, the FEC was divided 3 – 3 on 

the dismissal and could decide to pursue enforcement and sanctions against 

Crossroads GPS if the present dismissal were invalidated.  Id.  Crossroads GPS 

should not have “to rely on a doubtful friend to represent its interests, when it can 

represent itself.”  Id.  The same is true in this case. 

Ultimately, Crossroads GPS’s right to intervene here is as simple as the basic right of 

self-defense.   It is the true party under attack and it is entitled to litigate on its own behalf. 

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 Plaintiffs filed the administrative complaint with the FEC that is at the center of this 

dispute against Crossroads GPS, a not-for-profit corporation located in Washington, D.C. that 

has received tax exempt status from the IRS as a Section 501(c)(4) social welfare organization.2  

The November 2012 complaint alleged that Crossroads GPS failed to disclose contributors on 

                                                            
2 The original administrative complaint was filed by Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington and 
Jessica Markley.  In a subsequent amended administrative complaint, Ms. Markley was replaced by Nicholas 
Mezlak.  Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington and Mr. Mezlak are the plaintiffs in the instant 
complaint. 
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the reports it filed with the FEC for its independent expenditure advertisements advocating the 

election or defeat of candidates in the Ohio, Virginia, Montana, and Nevada United States Senate 

races during the 2012 election cycle, and therefore should be sanctioned.  The FEC designated 

the administrative complaint as Matter Under Review (“MUR”) 6696. 

Crossroads GPS responded to the complaint.  See Decl. of Steven Law Exh. A.  It 

explained that it had not received any contributions that were “made for the purpose of furthering 

the reported independent expenditure” under the FEC’s regulation, and therefore was not 

required to report any donors under that regulation. Crossroads GPS provided supporting 

materials and asked the Commission to dismiss the complaint. 

 The FEC Office of General Counsel issued a March 7, 2014 First General Counsel’s 

Report providing the FEC Commissioners with recommendations on what actions the 

Commission should take concerning the complaint.  See Decl. of Steven Law Exh. B.  The 

General Counsel’s report concluded that the facts alleged in Plaintiffs’ complaint failed to 

support the conclusion that Crossroads GPS had received any contributions that were required to 

be disclosed on its independent expenditure reports under the FEC’s regulation.  The General 

Counsel’s report also recommended that the Commission exercise its “prosecutorial discretion” 

in dismissing Plaintiffs’ allegation that the FECA required Crossroads GPS more broadly to 

disclose its contributors who gave for the purpose of influencing federal elections generally.  The 

General Counsel’s report cited “equitable concerns” about whether the FEC had given 

respondents such as Crossroads GPS “fair notice” that it would enforce the statute in such a 

manner.  

 On November 17, 2015, the FEC Commissioners deadlocked 3-3 on a motion to approve 

findings consistent with the General Counsel’s report.  Under FECA, four Commissioners must 
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find that there is “reason to believe” that a violation may have occurred before an investigation 

may commence.  See 52 U.S.C. §§ 30106(c), 30109(a)(2).  Thus, the administrative complaint 

against Crossroads GPS was dismissed.  The three controlling Commissioners—i.e., the 

Commissioners who voted to dismiss the complaint—did not author a separate statement of 

reasons, and the General Counsel’s Report thus provides the basis for the Court’s review in this 

case.  See Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington v. FEC, 799 F. Supp. 2d 78, 81 

(D.D.C. 2011).   

 Exercising their right to judicial review under the Act, see 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8), 

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint in this Court on February 26, 2016.  Attacking Crossroads GPS 

by name throughout the Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that, in dismissing the administrative 

complaint, the Commission “acted arbitrary [sic] or capriciously, abused its discretion, or acted 

contrary to law” under the relevant FEC regulation and FECA statutory provisions.  Compl. 

¶¶ 116, 124, and 131.   They seek a declaration to that effect and an order requiring the FEC 

promptly to conform to the declaration.  Plaintiffs also allege the FEC’s dismissal relied on a 

regulation that “is unlawful and invalid,” and they seek a declaration that the regulation “is 

contrary to law, arbitrary and capricious, and invalid.”  Compl. ¶ 124.  

III. CROSSROADS GPS HAS A RIGHT TO INTERVENE  

 Crossroads GPS’s stake in this litigation—which revolves around whether it complied 

with the federal campaign finance laws, and whether those laws should be changed midstream to 

conform to Plaintiffs’ policy preferences—amply qualifies it for intervention as of right.  Federal 

policy favors participation of “as many apparently concerned persons as is compatible with 

efficiency and due process.”  Nuesse v. Camp, 385 F.2d 694, 700 (D.C. Cir. 1967) (noting “the 

greater impetus to intervention that inheres in administrative cases”).  Here, where Crossroads 
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GPS is “the beneficiary of a favorable decision by the Federal Election Commission” under 

review, Crossroads, 788 F.3d at 314, and where the agency regulation Plaintiffs seek to 

invalidate formed the basis of the dismissal of the administrative complaint against Crossroads 

GPS, the liberal intervention standard is satisfied.   

A. Crossroads GPS Has Standing to Intervene. 

Where a party seeks leave “to intervene as another defendant, [the D.C. Circuit has] 

required it to demonstrate Article III standing, reasoning that otherwise any organization or 

individual with only a philosophic identification with a defendant—or a concern with a possible 

unfavorable precedent—could attempt to intervene and influence the course of litigation.”  Id. at 

316 (citation omitted); see also Fund for Animals, Inc. v. Norton, 322 F.3d 728, 732-33 (D.C. 

Cir. 2003) (“a party seeking to intervene as of right must demonstrate that it has standing under 

Article III of the Constitution”).  Here, Crossroads GPS has standing for the same reasons it had 

standing in the Crossroads litigation. 

In Crossroads, the Court of Appeals held that the prospect of losing a favorable FEC 

ruling constituted an injury-in-fact sufficient to confer Article III standing.  Because the litigation 

threatened to deprive Crossroads GPS of its beneficial ruling and “return [it] to the position of a 

respondent subject to enforcement proceedings before a federal agency,” Crossroads, 788 F.3d 

at 317, the Court of Appeals concluded that the organization had a “concrete stake in the 

favorable agency action currently in place,” id. at 319.  Crossroads GPS is in the same position in 

this case.  It currently benefits from a favorable ruling from the FEC that “precludes exposure to 

civil liability.”  Id. at 317.  Should Plaintiffs succeed in this action, Crossroads GPS will lose this 

beneficial ruling and will again be subject to further enforcement proceedings before the FEC.  

Crossroads GPS “thus has a significant and direct interest in the favorable action shielding it 
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from further litigation and liability,” and the “‘threatened loss’” of this interest “constitutes a 

‘concrete and imminent injury.’”  Id. at 318 (quoting Fund for Animals, 322 F.3d at 733).3   

Similarly, with respect to the FEC regulation Plaintiffs seek to invalidate, Crossroads 

GPS is “directly subject to the challenged Rule,” Military Toxics Project v. Environmental 

Protection Agency, 146 F.3d 948, 954 (D.C. Cir. 1998), and “benefits from the [agency’s] 

current regulations, and . . . would suffer concrete injury if the court were to grant the relief the 

plaintiffs seek,” Fund for Animals, 322 F.3d at 733.  To wit, if the challenged regulation were 

invalidated and FECA interpreted and  applied as Plaintiffs urge, then Crossroads GPS would be 

subject to much greater disclosure requirements that “burden [its] ability to speak.”  See Citizens 

United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 367 (2010). 

B. Crossroads GPS Satisfies the Four-Factor Test for Intervention as of Right. 

A party may intervene as of right if it satisfies “a four-factor test requiring: 1) timeliness 

of the application to intervene; 2) a legally protected interest; 3) that the action, as a practical 

matter, impairs or impedes that interest; and 4) that no party to the action can adequately 

represent the potential intervenor’s interest.”  Crossroads, 788 F.3d at 320 (citing Deutsche Bank 

Nat’l Trust Co. v. FDIC, 717 F.3d 189, 192 (D.C. Cir. 2013)); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a)(2) 

(“On timely motion, the court must permit anyone to intervene who . . . claims an interest 

relating to the property or transaction that is the subject of the action, and is so situated that 

disposing of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede the movant’s ability to protect 

its interest, unless existing parties adequately represent that interest.”).  Crossroads GPS satisfies 

                                                            
3 Crossroads GPS need only have Article III standing to intervene; there is no additional prudential standing 
requirement: “the zone of interests has no applicability to an intervening defendant” after the Supreme Court’s 
decision in Lexmark Int’l, Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc., 134 S. Ct. 1377 (2014).  See Crossroads, 788 
F.3d at 319-20. 
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each of these factors in the instant matter for essentially the same reasons it satisfied these factors 

in the other Crossroads litigation. 

1. Crossroads GPS’s Motion Is Timely. 

This Motion to Intervene is being filed “before the FEC ha[s] even entered an 

appearance” and is thus timely.  Crossroads, 788 F.3d at 320.  Crossroads GPS’s motion cannot 

prejudice the existing parties.  Plaintiffs have not sought preliminary relief or otherwise pushed 

for expedition.  The FEC has not yet filed an answer to the Complaint.  The case calls for the 

review of an administrative record, so there is no need for discovery, and intervention does not 

disrupt any pre-existing discovery schedule.  Under these circumstances, Crossroads GPS’s 

intervention request is timely. 

2. Crossroads GPS Has a Legally Protected Interest in This Litigation. 

Crossroads GPS has a direct and legally protected interest in maintaining the vitality of 

the dismissal that it won before the FEC.  The D.C. Circuit expressly held in Crossroads that an 

organization that risks losing a favorable FEC dismissal order in district court has a concrete 

legal interest that supports intervention.  788 F.3d at 318, 320.  Such an organization “currently 

claims a significant benefit from the FEC’s dismissal order” because “[a]s long as [the order] is 

in place, [the organization] faces no further exposure to enforcement proceedings before the FEC 

related to the complaint, nor is it exposed to civil liability via private lawsuit.”  Id. at 318.  The 

potential to lose that favorable order in district court is “a fortiori . . . an interest relating to the 

property or transaction which is the subject to the action.”  Id. at 318, 320 (citation omitted). 

Crossroads GPS also has a concrete interest in the protection it receives from the 

challenged regulation.  As the FEC’s General Counsel’s report in the administrative proceedings 

and the Complaint itself make clear, the regulation benefits Crossroads GPS by not requiring 
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“more expansive” disclosure on its independent expenditure reports.  Compl. ¶¶ 119, 122; FEC 

MUR 6966 First General Counsel’s Report at 9-13. 

Crossroads GPS thus has an undeniable legally protected interest in this case that entitles 

it to intervention.  Although the complaint names the FEC as the formal defendant, the Plaintiffs’ 

ultimate objective is to impose financial sanctions and additional burdensome disclosure 

obligations on Crossroads GPS in a reopened administrative proceeding and invalidation of the 

challenged administrative rule.  Crossroads GPS has the right to defend its success to date in 

averting such an unwarranted investigation and regulation of its affairs by the FEC, and also in 

upholding the existing administrative rule, which imposes on Crossroads GPS a lesser disclosure 

burden than what Plaintiffs seek. 

3. This Action May Impair or Impede Crossroads GPS’s Interests. 

 The Crossroads decision also establishes that this factor favors intervention here.  The 

threat that this case poses to Crossroads GPS’s interests is substantial and direct.  “An adverse 

judgment in the district court would impair Crossroads’ defense in a new proceeding because a 

judicial pronouncement that the FEC’s dismissal was contrary to law would make the ‘task of 

reestablishing the status quo . . . [more] difficult and burdensome.’”  788 F.3d at 320 (quoting 

Funds for Animals, 322 F.3d at 735).  And should Plaintiffs “seek a subsequent civil enforcement 

suit,” Crossroads GPS would be disadvantaged in presenting its defenses, because “the district 

court’s ruling would have persuasive weight with a new court.”  Id. (citing Roane, 741 F.3d at 

151).  Crossroads GPS thus has the right to intervene because “the outcome of the 

litigation would cause a concrete and imminent injury if Plaintiffs prevail and receive their 

requested relief.”  Fowler v. United States EPA, 2009 WL 8634683, at *3 (D.D.C. Sept. 29, 

2009) (emphasis in original).   
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 In addition, the Complaint seeks an order invalidating a regulation that applies to 

Crossroads GPS, and compelling the FEC to enforce the “more expansive” reporting requirement 

that Plaintiffs seek under FECA § 30104(c)(2) in such a way as to impose more burdensome 

disclosure obligations on Crossroads GPS.  That is more than a sufficient practical impairment to 

give Crossroads GPS the right to intervene.  See County of San Miguel v. MacDonald, 244 

F.R.D. 36, 44-45 (D. D.C. 2007); Fund for Animals, 322 F.3d at 733-734.   

4. Crossroads GPS’s Interests Are Not Adequately Represented. 

 Finally, the Crossroads decision establishes that Crossroads GPS has “easily met the 

minimum burden of showing inadequacy of representation and should be allowed to intervene as 

of right.”  788 F.3d at 321.  This last requirement is “not onerous,” and “a movant ‘ordinarily 

should be allowed to intervene unless it is clear that the party will provide adequate 

representation.’”  Id. (citations omitted).  Indeed, the “burden [is] on those opposing intervention 

to show the adequacy of the existing representation,” Nuesse, 385 F.2d at 702, with the 

presumption that representation is inadequate, Fund for Animals, 322 F.3d at 735-36. 

Here, as in Crossroads, the FEC cannot meet its burden for two independent reasons.  

First, the FEC is a government agency—and the D.C. Circuit has “often concluded that 

governmental entities do not adequately represent the interests of aspiring intervenors.”  

Crossroads, 788 F.3d at 314 (quoting Fund for Animals, 322 F.3d at 736).4  This is particularly 

true here where Crossroads GPS’s interest in limited federal regulation is at odds with the FEC’s 

interest, whose “business is to censor,” Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 335, and whose “sole 

                                                            
4 See also Dimond v. District of Columbia, 792 F.2d 179, 192 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (a private company’s “parochial” 
interests are not adequately represented by a government party responsible for the general public interest); Cal. 
Valley Miwok Tribe v. Salazar, 281 F.R.D. 43, 47 (D.D.C. 2012) (noting D.C. Circuit’s “skepticism that United 
States governmental entities, with their unique obligations to the . . . general public” adequately represent more 
narrow, private interests); Wildearth Guardians v. Salazar, 272 F.R.D. 4, 15 (D.D.C. 2010) (“[G]overnmental 
entities generally cannot represent the more narrow and parochial financial interest of a private party.” (citation and 
internal quotation marks omitted)).   
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purpose [is] the regulation of core constitutionally protected activity,” AFL-CIO v. FEC, 333 

F.3d 168, 170 (D.C. Cir. 2003).  As the D.C. Circuit explained in Crossroads, “disagreements 

are understandable” where “the underlying issues before the district court are the under-

enforcement of federal law and the authority of the FEC—an agency that could seek to regulate 

[the potential intervenor] directly and immediately after its dismissal order is revoked.”  788 F.3d 

at 321.   

Crossroads GPS, therefore, cannot be forced to rely on the FEC to argue in favor of 

limited discretion to interpret the law and impose sanctions.  Indeed, as Plaintiffs noted in their 

administrative complaint filed with the FEC, with respect to the very same Crossroads GPS 

independent expenditure reports that are at issue in this complaint, the FEC’s Reports Analysis 

Division (“RAD”) adopted a more expansive interpretation of the reporting requirement and 

repeatedly asked for Crossroads GPS to disclose more information than what is required under 

the plain text of the regulation.  FEC MUR 6696, Amended Compl. ¶¶ 32-39 and Exh. I-N.  This 

is ample evidence of “[t]he hydraulic pressure inherent within each of the separate Branches to 

exceed the outer limits of its power,”  INS v. Chadha, 462 U.S. 919, 951 (1983), and Crossroads 

GPS must therefore be given leave to make its own arguments for limited FEC regulation.   

Second, the FEC cannot adequately represent Crossroads GPS’s  interests because the 

FEC is itself divided about the case’s dismissal action and its central legal issue—i.e., what 

disclosure of donors is required, and should be required, on an independent expenditure report.  

The vote to dismiss the administrative action was the result of a 3-3 decision (just as in the 

Crossroads case).  As a result, the dismissal won by Crossroads GPS will be defended by an 

agency where Crossroads GPS’s legal liability hangs in the balance, and that agency will 

potentially investigate and regulate Crossroads GPS if Plaintiffs prevail.  Half of the FEC’s 
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Commissioners also have voted to advance a petition to revise the independent expenditure 

reporting regulation at issue in this matter in the more regulatory manner, and for essentially the 

same reasons, urged by Plaintiffs, see FEC Dec. 15, 2011 Open Meeting Agenda Doc. No. 11-74 

and Vote Certification dated Dec. 16, 2011, thereby casting significant doubt on the agency’s 

resolve in defending the regulation against Plaintiffs’ challenge to its validity.  “In such 

circumstances, Crossroads should not need to rely on a doubtful friend to represent its interests, 

when it can represent itself.”  Crossroads, 788 F.3d at 321. 

IV. ALTERNATIVELY, CROSSROADS GPS SHOULD BE GRANTED 
PERMISSIVE INTERVENTION 

 Crossroads GPS also qualifies for permissive intervention under Rule 24(b).  “Rule 24(b) 

authorizes permissive intervention for a movant who timely files a motion where . . . the 

applicant’s claim or defense has a question of law or fact in common with the main action.”  

Peters v. District of Columbia, 873 F. Supp. 2d 158, 211-12 (D.D.C. 2012) (internal citations 

omitted).  “[T]he decision to allow permissive intervention under Rule 24(b) is committed to the 

district court’s discretion,” but “the Court must consider whether the proposed intervention “will 

unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication of the original parties’ rights.”  Id. 

 Crossroads GPS satisfies this standard for the same reasons detailed above.  Its motion is 

timely and cannot “unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication of the original parties’ rights,” 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(b)(3), as it pre-dates the FEC even entering an appearance in this matter.  Its 

defense of the FEC’s dismissal action as legally authorized, valid, and consistent with FECA 

shares common questions of law and fact with the main case.  It therefore qualifies for 

permissive intervention.  See, e.g., Sierra Club v. Van Antwerp, 523 F. Supp. 2d 5, 9-10 (D.D.C. 

2007); Duke Energy Field Servs. Assets, L.L.C. v. FERC, 150 F. Supp. 2d 150, 153 (D.D.C. 

2001).   
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 Granting intervention would be particularly appropriate and valuable here given the 

importance of the central legal issues presented by the complaint—what donor disclosure is 

required on independent expenditure reports under  FECA and Commission regulation, and 

whether the FEC’s regulation is consistent with the statute.  The Court will need to consider how, 

in light of the well-established recognition that “disclosure requirements may burden the ability 

to speak,” Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 366, the FEC’s regulation strikes an appropriate and 

permissible balance between the broad disclosure requirement Plaintiffs seek versus the interest 

Crossroads GPS and similarly situated speakers have in avoiding such burdens.  Before crafting 

precedent on these vital First Amendment issues, the Court should not limit itself to the views of 

a pro-regulatory plaintiff and deeply conflicted agency whose “business is to censor,” Citizens 

United, 558 U.S. at 335, but should also consider Crossroads GPS’s relevant views as a regulated 

party.  See Fund for Animals, 322 F.3d at 737 n.9 (advocacy by an intervenor may “serve as a 

vigorous and helpful supplement” to agency advocacy (quoting Natural Res. Def. Council, 561 

F.2d 904, 912-13 (D.C. Cir. 1977)).  

V. CONCLUSION 

 For these reasons, Crossroads GPS should be granted leave to intervene as a party 

defendant and to file the attached answer. 

  

Case 1:16-cv-00259-BAH   Document 8   Filed 04/15/16   Page 13 of 15



 
 

14 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
April 15, 2016 

/s/ Thomas W. Kirby. 
Michael E. Toner (D.C. Bar No. 439707) 
E-mail: mtoner@wileyrein.com 
Thomas W. Kirby (D.C. Bar No. 915231) 
E-mail: tkirby@wileyrein.com 
WILEY REIN LLP 
1776 K Street NW 
Washington, DC 20006 
Tel.: 202.719.7000 
Fax: 202.719.7049 
 
Counsel for Crossroads Grassroots Policy 
Strategies 

  

 

  

Case 1:16-cv-00259-BAH   Document 8   Filed 04/15/16   Page 14 of 15



 
 

15 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that, on April 15, 2016, I served a true and correct copy of Crossroads 
Grassroots Policy Strategies’ Motion To Intervene and Memorandum In Support, with 
accompanying Proposed Answers, Declaration of Steven Law and Exhibits, Proposed Order, and 
LCvR 7.1 and 26.1 Statement, by means of electronic filing, on: 

Daniel A. Petalas 
Kevin Deeley 
Federal Election Commission 
Office of General Counsel 
999 E Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20463 
 
Stuart C. McPhail 
Adam J. Rappaport 
Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington 
455 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W.  
6th Floor 
Washington, DC 20001 

 

/s/ Thomas W. Kirby 
        Thomas W. Kirby 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND 
ETHICS IN WASHINGTON, et al., 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
  v.    
  
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION, 
 
   Defendant, 
 
CROSSROADS GRASSROOTS POLICY 
STRATEGIES 
1401 New York Ave., NW 
Ste. 1200 
Washington, DC 20005,    

Proposed Intervenor- 
   Defendant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Civil Action No.  1:16-cv-00259-BAH 
 

 
[PROPOSED] ANSWER AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OF  

INTERVENOR-DEFENDANT CROSSROADS GRASSROOTS POLICY STRATEGIES 
 

By leave of the Court, Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies (“Crossroads GPS”) 

intervenes in this action as a party Defendant, and submits this Answer, denying each allegation 

of the Complaint except to the extent expressly admitted below: 

 1. Admitted that Plaintiffs have filed an action challenging the Federal Election 

Commission’s (“FEC” or Commission”) dismissal of an administrative complaint filed by 

Plaintiffs and the FEC’s promulgation of the regulation at 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(1)(vi).  To the 

extent that Paragraph 1 contains Plaintiffs’ characterizations and conclusions of law, no response 

is required.  To the extent any response is required, Plaintiffs’ characterizations and conclusions 

of law are denied.   

 2. Admitted that Crossroads GPS received funds in excess of $3 million from a 

donor in 2012. Admitted that Karl Rove is an unpaid, informal advisor to Crossroads GPS. 

13968175.7 
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Admitted that Crossroads GPS sponsored independent expenditure television advertisements in 

Ohio in 2012.  Admitted that Crossroads GPS did not report the identity of donors on 

independent expenditure reports filed with the FEC.  Denied that Crossroads GPS was required 

to disclose donors on any independent expenditure reports filed with the FEC. To the extent that 

Paragraph 2 contains Plaintiffs’ characterizations and conclusions of law, no response is 

required.  To the extent any response is required, Plaintiffs’ characterizations and conclusions of 

law are denied. 

 3.  Admitted that Crossroads GPS received approximately $1.3 million in “matching” 

funds from donors for its unspecified general use in Ohio, and that Crossroads GPS did not 

report the identity of any of those donors on independent expenditure reports filed with the FEC.  

Denied that Crossroads GPS was required to disclose any donors on any independent 

expenditure reports filed with the FEC.  To the extent that Paragraph 3 contains Plaintiffs’ 

characterizations and conclusions of law, no response is required.  To the extent any response is 

required, Plaintiffs’ characterizations and conclusions of law are denied. 

 4. Admitted that Crossroads GPS did not report the identity of any of its other 

donors on independent expenditure reports filed with the FEC.  Denied that Crossroads GPS was 

required to disclose donors on any independent expenditure reports filed with the FEC. Denied 

that independent expenditure advertisements distributed subsequent to the event at issue 

[duplicated] the example advertisements shown at the event.  Denied that Crossroads GPS 

brought contributors to a fundraiser held on August 30, 2012, provided materials for donating to 

the group, showed example independent expenditure advertisements to these donors, and then 

solicited funds from these donors for the purpose of funding particular independent expenditure 

advertisements.  To the extent that Paragraph 4 contains Plaintiffs’ characterizations and 
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conclusions of law, no response is required.  To the extent any response is required, Plaintiffs’ 

characterizations and conclusions of law are denied. 

 5. Paragraph 5 sets forth Plaintiffs’ opinions and characterizations and conclusions 

of law to which no response is required.  To the extent any response is required, these allegations 

are denied.  

 6. Admitted that venue in this district is proper pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 

30109(a)(8)(A) and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e).  Otherwise denied. 

 7. Admitted that Plaintiff operates pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 

Revenue Code. 

 8 – 10. Crossroads GPS lacks sufficient information to admit or deny CREW’s 

generalized descriptions of itself and its purposes, nor is any response to these descriptions 

required. 

 11. Admitted that Plaintiff files complaints with the FEC.  Crossroads GPS lacks 

sufficient information to admit or deny CREW’s generalized descriptions of itself and its 

purposes, nor is any response to these descriptions required. 

 12 – 13. Crossroads GPS lacks sufficient information to admit or deny CREW’s 

generalized descriptions of itself and its purposes, nor is any response to these descriptions 

required. 

 14 – 15. Crossroads GPS lacks sufficient information to admit or deny CREW’s 

descriptions of its publications, nor is any response to these descriptions required. 

 16. Denied that Crossroads GPS refuses to comply with FEC’s reporting and 

disclosure requirements.  Crossroads GPS lacks sufficient information to admit or deny CREW’s 

Case 1:16-cv-00259-BAH   Document 8-1   Filed 04/15/16   Page 3 of 10



4 
 

generalized descriptions of itself and its purposes, nor is any response required.  To the extent a 

response to these allegations is required, they are denied. 

 17. Crossroads GPS lacks sufficient information about Plaintiff Nicholas Mezlak to 

admit or deny the factual representations regarding Mr. Mezlak set forth in Paragraph 17.  To the 

extent that Paragraph 17 contains Plaintiffs’ characterizations and conclusions of law, no 

response is required.  To the extent any response is required, Plaintiffs’ characterizations and 

conclusions of law are denied. 

 18. Paragraph 18 contains Plaintiffs’ characterizations and conclusions of law to 

which no response is required.  To the extent any response is required, these allegations are 

denied. 

19-34. FECA’s statutory provisions, the Code of Federal Regulations, and the FEC’s 

policy statements speak for themselves and require no response. 

35-39. Admitted. 

 40. Denied that Crossroads GPS held a fundraiser at the Tampa Club in Tampa, 

Florida on August 30, 2012.  

 41. Admitted that a news media report indicates there were “about70” attendees at the 

August 30, 2012 event hosted by American Crossroads.  The rest of Paragraph 41 contains 

Plaintiffs’ characterizations of attendees, to which no response is required.    

 42. Admitted. 

 43. Admitted that a news media report attributed the quoted statements and 

recollections to Mr. Rove.  Admitted that Mr. Rove affirmed in an affidavit that was included 

with Crossroads GPS’s response to CREW’s administrative complaint filed in FEC Matter Under 

Review 6696, and which Plaintiffs have attached to their Complaint in this instant matter as 
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Exhibit I, that the news media reporter’s account of Mr. Rove’s statements was substantially 

accurate. 

 44. Crossroads GPS’s reports filed with the FEC speak for themselves and require no 

response.   

 45. Denied that Crossroads GPS’s independent expenditure reports filed with the FEC 

failed to disclose the names of any donors that were required to be disclosed by relevant FEC 

regulations and precedent.  Crossroads GPS’s independent expenditure reports filed with the 

FEC speak for themselves and require no response.   

 46. American Crossroads’ reports filed with the FEC speak for themselves and 

require no response.   

 47. Admitted that fourteen television advertisements were shown to attendees at the 

August 30, 2012 event hosted by American Crossroads.  Admitted that eleven advertisements 

had previously been paid for and publicly distributed by Crossroads GPS.  Admitted that two 

advertisements had previously been paid for and publicly distributed by American Crossroads.  

Admitted that one advertisement had previously been paid for by American Crossroads and 

shown to a focus group, but not publicly distributed. To the extent that Paragraph 47 contains 

Plaintiffs’ characterizations of those advertisements, no response is required.  To the extent any 

response is required, Plaintiffs’ characterizations are denied. 

 48. Crossroads GPS’s advertisements speak for themselves and require no response.  

To the extent any response is required, Crossroads GPS denies that this paragraph fully and 

accurately conveys the content of the referenced advertisements. 

 49. Generally denied.  Admitted that American Crossroads officials orally solicited 

contributions from attendees at the August 30, 2012, event.   
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 50. Admitted that a news media report attributed the quoted material to Mr. Barbour.  

Plaintiffs’ characterizations of those statements attributed to Mr. Barbour require no response.   

 51. Denied that Mr. Law and Mr. Barbour used the name “American Crossroads” to 

refer to both American Crossroad and Crossroads GPS.  Admitted that Mr. Law and Mr. Barbour 

solicited contributions to American Crossroads at the August 30, 2012 event. Crossroads GPS’s 

advertising in Florida and related press release attached as Exhibit D to Plaintiffs’ Complaint 

speak for themselves and require no response.  To the extent that Paragraph 51 contains 

Plaintiffs’ characterizations and speculation about the event that appear to derive from a third-

party news report attached to Plaintiffs’ Complaint as Exhibit G, and which require no response  

To the extent any response is required, Plaintiffs’ characterizations and speculation are denied. 

 52. Denied that advertising aired by Crossroads GPS duplicated the example 

advertisements shown at the August 30, 2012, meeting.  Crossroads GPS’s advertising and FEC 

filings speak for themselves and no response is required.   Paragraph 52 contains Plaintiffs’ 

characterizations of Crossroads GPS’s advertisements, to which no response is required. 

 53. Denied that Crossroads GPS’s independent expenditure reports filed with the FEC 

failed to disclose the names of any donors that were required to be disclosed by relevant FEC 

regulations and precedent.  Crossroads GPS’ independent expenditure reports filed with the FEC 

speak for themselves and require no response.  

 54. Admitted. 

 55. Admitted that Plaintiff filed an administrative complaint against Crossroads GPS 

with the FEC on November 14, 2012.  The content of Plaintiffs’ administrative complaint filed 

with the FEC speaks for itself and no response is required. To the extent any response is 
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required, Crossroads GPS generally denies the substantive allegations set forth in Plaintiffs’ 

administrative complaint. 

56-61. Admitted that Crossroads GPS filed a response to Plaintiffs’ administrative 

complaint with the FEC on January 17, 2013, and that this response included an affidavit signed 

by Mr. Rove.  Plaintiffs’ characterizations of Crossroads GPS’s FEC response and Mr. Rove’s 

affidavit require no response.  To the extent any response is required, Plaintiffs’ characterizations 

of Crossroads GPS’s response are denied to the extent that those characterizations vary from 

Crossroads GPS’s response. 

 62. Admitted that American Crossroads paid for and distributed advertising in 

connection with the U.S. Senate races in Montana and Florida, as well as in Wisconsin, Indiana, 

and Nebraska, subsequent to the August 30, 2012 meeting.  Admitted that American Crossroads 

did not report spending any money on advertising subsequent to the August 30 meeting in 

connection with the U.S. Senate races in Massachusetts, Nevada, Ohio, or Virginia.  Admitted 

that, subsequent to the August 30, 2012 meeting, Crossroads GPS paid for and distributed 

independent expenditures in connection with the U.S. Senate races in Massachusetts, Nevada, 

Ohio, and Virginia, as well as in North Dakota, Wisconsin, Montana, Indiana, Maine, and New 

Mexico.   

 63. Admitted. 

64-69. Admitted that the FEC’s Office of General Counsel issued a First General 

Counsel’s Report that is date-stamped March 7, 2014.  This First General Counsel’s Report 

speaks for itself, and Plaintiffs’ characterizations of the Report require no response.  To the 

extent any response is required, Plaintiffs’ characterizations of the First General Counsel’s 
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Report are denied to the extent that those characterizations vary from First General Counsel’s 

Report itself.   

70-71. Admitted that the FEC voted on the recommendations made by the Office of 

General Counsel in the First General Counsel’s Report.  The official FEC records regarding the 

FEC’s votes speak for themselves and require no response.   

 72. Admitted that the controlling Commissioners have not issued a Statement of 

Reasons in connection with MUR 6696. 

 [Paragraph numbers 73 through 109 are omitted in the Complaint.] 

 110. Crossroads GPS incorporates its responses in all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

 111. Denied. 

 112. Admitted that the three Commissioners who voted against finding reason to 

believe that Crossroads GPS violated the law have not issued a separate Statement of Reasons.  

Denied that these Commissioners failed to provide an explanation for their vote(s).  Denied that 

the Office of General Counsel’s First General Counsel’s Report is insufficient to justify 

dismissal of the enforcement matter. 

113-116. Denied. 

 117. Crossroads GPS incorporates its responses in all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

 118. Admitted that the three Commissioners who voted against finding reason to 

believe that Crossroads GPS violated the law have issued no separate Statement of Reasons.  

Denied that these Commissioners failed to provide an explanation for their vote(s).  Denied that 
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the Office of General Counsel’s First General Counsel’s Report is insufficient to justify 

dismissal of the enforcement matter. 

119-124. The First General Counsel’s Report, Code of Federal Regulations, and FECA 

speak for themselves. To the extent these Paragraphs contain Plaintiffs’ characterizations and 

conclusions of law, no response is required.  To the extent any response is required, Plaintiffs’ 

characterizations and conclusions of law are denied.   

 125.  Crossroads GPS incorporates its responses in all preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

 126.  Admitted that the three Commissioners who voted against finding reason to 

believe that Crossroads GPS violated the law have issued no separate Statement of Reasons.  

Denied that these Commissioners failed to provide an explanation for their vote(s).  Denied that 

the Office of General Counsel’s First General Counsel’s Report is insufficient to justify 

dismissal of the enforcement matter. 

127-130. The First General Counsel’s Report, Code of Federal Regulations, FECA, and 

Crossroads GPS’s response to the administrative complaint speak for themselves.  To the extent 

these Paragraphs contain Plaintiffs’ characterizations and conclusions of law, no response is 

required.  To the extent any response is required, Plaintiffs’ characterizations and conclusions of 

law are denied. 

 131. Denied. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 1. The Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) does not provide an avenue for relief 

where other adequate bases for relief from administrative action are available.  Because the 

FECA otherwise provides relief from improper dismissal, no APA remedy is available here. 
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 2. Plaintiffs’ challenge to the FEC’s promulgation of 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(1)(vi), 

which was promulgated on March 7, 1980 (and was numbered 11 C.F.R. § 109.2 at the time), is 

time-barred under 28 U.S.C. § 2401(a). 

 WHEREFORE, Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies requests that the complaint be 

dismissed with prejudice and that the Court award it all other lawful and proper relief. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

April 15, 2016 

/s/ Thomas W. Kirby. 
Michael E. Toner (D.C. Bar No. 439707) 
E-mail: mtoner@wileyrein.com 
Thomas W. Kirby (D.C. Bar No. 915231) 
E-mail: tkirby@wileyrein.com 
Eric Wang (D.C. Bar. No. 974038) 
WILEY REIN LLP 
1776 K Street NW 
Washington, DC 20006 
Tel.: 202.719.7000 
Fax: 202.719.7049 
 
Counsel for Crossroads Grassroots Policy 
Strategies 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND 
ETHICS IN WASHINGTON, et al., 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
  v.    
  
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION, 
 
   Defendant, 
 
CROSSROADS GRASSROOTS POLICY 
STRATEGIES 
1401 New York Ave., NW 
Ste. 1200 
Washington, DC 20005,    

Proposed Intervenor- 
   Defendant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Civil Action No.  1:16-cv-00259-BAH 
 

 
[PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING INTERVENTION 

 The Motion of Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies to intervene as a party defendant 

is granted and the proposed Answer submitted with that Motion is deemed filed and served as of 

the date of this Order.   

DATED:  ________ ___, 2016 __________________________ 
Beryl A. Howell 
United States District Judge 

  

13968166.1 
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NAMES OF PERSONS TO BE SERVED WITH PROPOSED ORDER UPON ENTRY 

 In accordance with LCvR 7(k), listed below are the names and addresses of the attorneys 

and parties entitled to be notified of the proposed order’s entry: 

 
Stuart C. McPhail 
Adam J. Rappaport  
CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND ETHICS IN 

WASHINGTON 
455 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W.  
6th Floor 
Washington, DC 20001 
 

Daniel A. Petalas 
Kevin Deeley 
Federal Election Commission 
Office of General Counsel 
999 E Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20463 

  Thomas W. Kirby 
WILEY REIN LLP 
1776 K Street NW 
Washington, DC 20006 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND 
ETHICS IN WASHINGTON, et al., 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
  v.    
  
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION, 
 
   Defendant, 
 
CROSSROADS GRASSROOTS POLICY 
STRATEGIES 
1401 New York Ave., NW 
Ste. 1200 
Washington, DC 20005, 
   Proposed Intervenor- 
   Defendant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Civil Action No.  1:16-cv-00259-BAH 
 

 
LCvR 7.1 AND LCvR 26.1 CERTIFICATE OF PROPOSED INTERVENOR-

DEFENDANT CROSSROADS GRASSROOTS POLICY STRATEGIES 
 
 I, the undersigned, counsel of record for Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies, certify 

that to the best of my knowledge and belief, Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies is an entity 

formed under 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(4) and that there are no parent companies, subsidiaries, 

affiliates, or companies which own at least 10% of the stock of Crossroads Grassroots Policy 

Strategies which have any outstanding securities in the hands of the public.  

 These representations are made in order that judges of this court may determine the need 

for recusal. 

  

13968152.1 
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April 15, 2016 

/s/ Thomas W. Kirby. 
Michael E. Toner (D.C. Bar No. 439707) 
E-mail: mtoner@wileyrein.com 
Thomas W. Kirby (D.C. Bar No. 915231) 
E-mail: tkirby@wileyrein.com 
Eric Wang (D.C. Bar No. 974038) 
WILEY REIN LLP 
1776 K Street NW 
Washington, DC 20006 
Tel.: 202.719.7000 
Fax: 202.719.7049 
 
Counsel for Crossroads Grassroots Policy 
Strategies 
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Jeff. S. Jordan 
Supervisory Attorney 

January 17, 2013 

Complaints Examination & Legal Administration 
Federal Election Commission 
999 E Street, N W 

·-: .... 
,.. a "\ 

'· 
.... 1 

Washington, DC 20463 
_..., 

Re: Response in MUR 6696 

Dear Mr. Jordan, 

This response is submitted on behalf of Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies (GPS), 
Karl Rove, Haley Barbour, Steven Law, and Caleb Crosby jointly, by the undersigned counsel in 
the above-referenced matter. Mr. Rove received a copy of this Complaint from the Commission 
on December 3, 2012. Crossroads GPS received a copy of this Complaint, via its registered 
agent, on December 6, 2012. Crossroads GPS .requested, and was granted, a 30-day extension of 

time to submit a response to the Commission. 

Mr. Rove and Governor .Barbour are uncompensated advisors to Crossroads GPS. 
Neither is ail officer and neither sits on the Board of Directors. Mr. Law is the President of 
Crossroads GPS. Mr. Crosby is·the Treasurer of Crossroads GPS. We presume that Messrs. 

Law and Crosby are named as Respondents only in their capacities as officers. 

CREW's latest stunt is a press release roll-out of a complaint filed against Crossroads 
GPS with both the FEC and FBI. 1 The charges are typically sensational (Ms. Sloan claims a 
"criminal conspiracy" in her press release), buras is often the case with CREW, there is very 
little actual substance, and no merit whatsoever, to the alleged legal violations. The Complaint is 

1 See CREW Press Release, "CREW Files FEC Complaint Against Crossroads GPS For Failing To 
Disclose Donors" (Nov. 15, 20 12) available al htto://www .cilil".cnsforcthics.org/legal-'til ings/eni.ry/crew• 
li les- fcc-com pi a ini-crossrmtds-gps-·fa iIi ng-to-d isclose-donors. 
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based primarily on two news articles that appeared on August 31 and September 4, 2012. Both 
articles were written by a Bloomberg Business Week reporter who duplicitously gained entry to a 
private meeting hosted on August 30 by American Crossroads. While this m.e.eting was widely 
reported among the Washington political press, no individual or organization used i~ as· the basis. 
of a complaint in the following months- until now. The reason is quite obvious: the article is 
only of political interest, and it reveals no wrongdoing. 

Many of the "facts" that CREW alleges in support of its case do not actually appear in 
any of the cited materials, nor are they otherwise substantiated. Rather, CREW draws many 
inferences that are simply not true, and the Complaint is replete with speculation. Many of 

CREW's·conclusory statements are not reasonably drawn. Finally, several claims made in. the 
Complaint- including claims regarding the state of mind of unknown persons- are so obviously 
fabricated that it is almost certain that Ms. Sloan and Ms. Markley falsely swore to the 
Verifications submitted with their Complaint. 

CREW's Complaint should be quickly dismissed and CREW admonished for, once 
again, filing an abusive, harassing, and baseless Complaint. We also request that Ms. Sloane and 
Ms. Markley be referred to the appropriate authorities for investigation into whether either or 
both violated 18 U.S.C. § 1001 when they executed their respective Verifications and submitted 
this Complaint. 

!:. Questions Presented 

Despite the length of the Complaint, the relevant questions raised are quite simple. Does 
the Complaint present credible and unrebutted evidence demonstrating that Crossroads GPS (i) 
solicited or received funds that were provided by a donor "for the purpose of furthering-the 
reported independent expenditure" and (ii) then failed to properly report those contributions? 

As explained below, CREW's complaint does not satisfy the reason to believe standard 
set forth in MUR 4960 (Hillary Clinton), nor does it provide any evidence of a substanti.ve 
violation of the law. For either or both reasons, the Complaint should be dismissed. 

II. "Reason To Believe" Standard 

The Commission has previously explained: 

The Commission will make a determination of 'no reason to believe' a violation has 
occurred when the available information does not provide a basis for proceeding with the 
matter. The Commission finds 'no reason to believe' when the complaint, any response 

Response in MUR 6696 
Page 2 of21 

Case 1:16-cv-00259-BAH   Document 8-5   Filed 04/15/16   Page 3 of 24



filed by the respondent, and any publicly available information, when taken together, fail 
to give rise to a reasonable inference that a violation has occurred, or even if the 
allegations were true, would not constitute a violation of the law. For example, a 'no 
reason to believe' finding would be appropriate when: 

• A violation has been alleged, but the respondent's response or other evidence 
convincingly demonstrates that no violation has occurred; 

• A complaint alleges a violation but is either not credible or is so vague that ah 
investigation would be effectively impossible; or 

• A complaint fails to describe a violation of the Act. 

Statement of Policy Regarding Commission Action in Matters at the Initial Stage in the 
Enforcement Process, 72 Fed. Reg. 12,545, 12,546 (March 16, 2007). 

"'Reason to believe' is a threshold determination that by itself does not establish that the 
law has been violated. In fact, 'reason to believe' determinations indicate only that the 
Commission found sufficient legal justification to open an investigation to determine whether 
there is probable cause to believe that a violation of the Act has occurred." Statement of Reasons 
of Commissioners Bauerly and Weintraub in MU.R 6056 (Protect Colorado Jobs, Inc.) at 2; see 
also Statement of Reasons of Commissioner Walther in MUR 6570 (Berman for Congress) at 9 
("A 'reason to believe' finding is not a finding that a respondent violated the Act, but instead 
simply means that the Commission believes a violation may have occurred."). 

"In order for the Commission to determine that a complaint provides a reason to believe a 
violation occurred, the complainant, under penalty of perjury, must provide specific facts from 
reliable sources that a respon~ent fails to adequately refute." Statement of Reasons of Vice 
Chairman Petersen and Commissioners Hunter and McGahn in MUR 6056 (Protect Colorado 
Jobs, Inc.) at 6. Taking into account the complaint, the sources of the allegations, and the 
response(s), Commissioners may ask if there is "sufficient information to find no reason to 
believe a violation occurred," or whether discrepancies or unanswered questions "raise[] 
sufficient questions to warrant further inquiry." Statement of Reasons of Commissioners 
Bauerly and Weintraub in MURs 6051 and 6052 (Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.) at 2. 

"Unwarranted legal conclusions from asserted facts ... , or mere speculation ... will not 
be accepted as true. In addition, while credibility will not be weighed in favor of the 
complainant or the respondent, a complaint may be dismissed if it consists of factual allegations 
that are refuted with sufficiently compelling evidence provided in the response to the complaint 
.... [P]urely speculative charges, especially when accompanied by a direct refutation, do not 
form an adequate basis to find reason to believe that a violation of the FECA has occurred." 
Statement of Reasons of Commissioners Mason, Sandstrom, Smith, and Thomas in MUR 4960 

Response in MUR 6696 
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(Hillary Clinton) at 2-3.2 "[M]ere 'official curiosity' will not suffice as the basis for FEC 
investigations." FEC v. Machinists Non-Partisan League, 655 F.2d 380, 388 (D.C. Cir. 1981). 

"[U]nder the Act, before making a reason to believe determination, the Commission must 
assess both the law and the credibility ofthe facts alleged. To do so, the Commission must 
identify the sources of information and examine the facts and reliability of those sources to 
determine whether they 'reasonably [give] rise to a belief in the truth of the allegations 
presented.' Only once this standard is met may the Commission investigate whether a violation 
occurred." Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Hunter and Commissioners McGahn and 
Petersen in MUR 6296 (Kenneth Buck) at 5-6 

As discussed in more detail below; the Complainant's allegations warrant a "no reason to 
believe" finding and should be dismissed. The evidence presented in the Complaint does not 
show any violation of the law. The specific "facts" cited by CREW that allegedly demonstrate 
the violation are based entirely on incorrect inferences and assumptions that CREW refers to as 
its "information and belief." That "information and belief," however, is maliciously wrong- as 
opposed to being merely mistakenly wrong. CREW simply makes up critical "facts" for which 
there is absolutely no evidentiary basis. 

CREW's general lack of credibility as a legitimate "watchdog" 3 and its history of filing 
frivolous complaints with the Commission should also be taken into account when weighing the 
reliability oft/le allegations made. Coupled with the Respondents' correction of the record that 
CREW presents, and the specific refutations of the "facts" that CREW *'lieges, the Commission 
shoulc:l have no difficulty dispensing with this matter. There is more than "sufficient information 

2 See also Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Hunter and Commissioners McGahn and Petersen in MUR 
6296 (Kenneth Buck) at 6 ("As in MUR 4960 (Hillary Clinton), the complaint it1 this matter lacked 
specific facts to establish that Buck, his authorized committee, and Morgensen violated the Act. Instead, 
the complaint was based 'upon information and belief,' a phrase that appears at least once on every page. 
None of the allegations were based on personal knowledge and, with two exceptions, the complaint does 
not identify any source for its allegations, credible or otherwise. Moreover, Respondents sufficiently 
refuted the factual allegations made in the complaint. Thus, the Commission is required under the statute 
and its own regulations to find no reason to believe Respondents violated the Act."). 

3 See, e.g., Karen Tumulty, "The Hill Monitor," Time (Oct. 23, 2006) ("Since its founding in 2003, 
CREW has worked through legal and regulatory channels to press allegations of impropriety almost 
exclusively against Rep!Jblicans.") available at 
htt-p:t/w\YW.I.ilile.con'l/time/magazilic/article/0. 9171 .. 154930 1.00. himl; Paul Singer, "Watchdog, Donors 
Share Common Foes," Roll Call (Jan. 29, 2008) ("a review of entities against which CREW has filed 
complaints and information about its donors suggests that the organization may be guilty of the same 
practice- attacking groups and individuals who are the foes of CREW's donors") available ar 
htto://www.r.ollcall.com/issucs/53 85/-21.796-l.html. 
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to find no reason to believe a violation occurred" here. Statement of Reasons of Commissioners 

Baueily and Weintraub in MURs 6051 and 6052 (Wai-Mart Stores, Inc.) at 2 (emphasis ·in 
original). 

Ill. Discussion of Factual Matters Raised In Complaint 

A.. The 14 Advertisements Screened 

The Complaint wrongly presumes that the adverti.sements that were screened for 
attendees at the August 30 meeting were advertisements for which Crossroads GPS was seeking 

funding. The Compla'int alleges·: "Crossroads GPS officials solicited the attendees for additional 
contributions, apparently to pay to broadc~st the advertisements the potential donors just viewed 

or to broadcast other ads in those races."4 Complaint at 1 28 (emphasis added). Th.is is not the 
case, and CREW's speculation on this point is simply wrong. 

The following advertisements were screened at the August 30 meeting: 

I. American Crossroads, "Behind," ail'ed on or about June 13,2012. 

(http://w.ww.voutube.com/watch?v=wrEPOieA3sY) 

2. Crossroads GPS, "Cost," aired on or about August I 5, 201.2. 

{http://www. vouliJbe.com/wntch?v=g5 8ADyndS8w) 

J. Crossroads GPS, "Cheap," aired on or about July 3, 2012. 

(http://www .youtu be.com/walch?v=l:i I FDqg Whk6 Y) 

4. Crossroads GPS, "Get Up," aired on or about August 23, 20'12. 

(http://www.you(ube.com/\"'alch?v= I"X FzKsul3mM) 

5. Crossroads GPS, "Suffered," aired on or about August 23, 2012. 

(http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=S2ITu4UHsdl) 

4 See also Complaint at ~155 ("Crossroads GPS show~ attendees ofthe August 30, 2012 fundraiser 
advertisements targeting Democratic Senate candidates in Ohio, Virginia, Montana, Florida, 
Massachusetts, and Nevada. Several of the ads were produced by Crossroads GPS. /mmed,iately after the 
ads were shown, Crossroads GPS solicited con~ribution.Y.from the attendees. Among other things, Mr. 
Law noted more money was needed because advertising rates had i'ncreased."); Complaint at~ 56 ("On 
information and belief, Crossroads GPS received contributions given with the intention that the money be 
spent on independent expenditures broadcasting the advertisements .Yhown at the fundraise,· or 
broadcasting other ads in the Ohio, Virginia, Montana, and Nevada Senate races.") (emphasis added). 

Response in MUR 6696 
Page 5 of21 

Case 1:16-cv-00259-BAH   Document 8-5   Filed 04/15/16   Page 6 of 24



Jl r· 
.) 

0 
4 
.ll 
~~ 
H 
I" 
.) 

0 
i' 
Jl 

6. Crossroads GPS, "Foundation," aired on or about November 9, 2011 .. 

(http://www.youuibc.com/watch?v=iNX:ez4ddpaO) 

7, Crossroads GPS, "Investigation," aired on or about August 3, 2012. 

(http://www:youtube.com/watch'?v=:tWY38AvvU98). 

8. Crossroads GPS, "Wake· Up," aired on or about July 7, 2011. 

(http://www .youtuhe.com/Wfllch ?v=ESAszB VMi~C4 )' 

9 .. 

10. 

II. 

12. 

Crossroads GPS, ''Typical," aired on or about December 9, 2011. 

(littpdh-vww.youfube.coin/watch?v=L3lJNOsl-lghFI) 

Crossroads GPS, "Tried," aired on or about July 12, 2012 . 
(hftp://www. voutube.com/walch?v=spu06VOiT8 E) 

Crossro·ads GPS, "News," aired on or about July 31, 2012. 
(http://www. voufube.comlwutch'?v==-L.k W Jd x2rA) 

Crossroads GPS, "Stopwatch," aired on or about June 5, 201i. 

(_http://www:youtubc.com/watch?v=DnwOAUM8D9E) 

13. American Crossroads, "Smoke," aired on or about July 19, 2012. 

(http<llwww.youtube.com/w~ttch?v=s AHLSK I XeA) 

14. The fourteenth advertisement screened was an advertisement prepared for focus 
group purposes, and which was never intended for public distribution. 

Thirteen of the fourteen advertisements screened at the August 30 meeting had already 
been paid for and aired. These advertisements were not screened as part of an effort to secure 

funding so that they could be aired, as the Complaint speculates. The fourteenth advertisement 

was a focus group ad that was not produced for public distribution, and was never aired. 

The screened ads were nothing more than examples of advertisemeh.ts for which 
American Crossroads (in two cases) and Crossroads GPS (in eleven cases) had already paid and 

aired. 
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B. Mr. Rove's Recounting of Conversation With Donor 

CREW's limited information regarding Mr. Rove's .conversation with a supporter and 
donor comes from two versions of the same source. 

Ms·. Kolhatkar's September 4, 2012, article includes __ the following passage:. 

As for the closely watched race in Ohio, one of the states that has generated the most 
political spending ~y outside groups lil<.e American Crossroads, Rove said:that he'd had a 
call from an unnamed out-of-state donqr who ~old him, "]·really like Josh Mandel,'' 
referring to the Ohio treasurer attempting to unseat Democrat Sherrod Brown. The 
donor, Rove said, had asked him what his budget was in the state; Rove told him $6 
million. "'I'll give ya $3 million, matching challenge,"' Rove said the donor told him. 
"Bob Castellini, owner of the Cincinnati Reds, is helping raise the other $3 million for 
that one." 

Sheelah Kolhatkar, Exclusive: How Karl Rove's Super PAC Plays the Senate, Bloomberg 

BusinessWeek(Sept. 4, 2012). 

Subsequently, in an interview with Democracy Now!, Ms. Kolhatkar recounted the same 
comments as follows: 

Rove specifically mentioned that he'd had a call from an anonymous benefactor who did 
not come from Ohio, who came from another state but who was just very interested, and 
wanted to donate half of their $6 million budget in the state. So the condition was it had 
to be a matching challenge. This donor was a b.ig fan of Josh Mandel, who is running 
against Brown. So Rove mentioned that the owner of the Cincinnati Reds baseball team 
was helping raise that money. 

Sheelah Kolhatkar, Democracy Now! Interview, September 5, 2012. 

The conversations recpunted by Mr. Rove to attendees at the August 30 meeting took 
place months before, in the spring of2012. See Affidavit of Karl Rove at~ 4. Mr. Rove had at 
least one other conversation with Mr. Castellini regarding the so-called "matching challenge" in 
summer of20 12. /d. a~~ 11. 

The conversation with the donor who stated, "I'll give ya $3 million, matching 
challenge,'' did not include any discussion of any particular television advertisements, television 
advertisements in general, or the contents, timing, or targeting of any existing, planned, or 
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hypothetical advertisements. See Affidavit of Karl Rove at~ 6. No specific efforts that could or 
would be made by Crossroads GPS were discussed. See ·id. at~ 7. There was no discussion of 
spending the donor's funds on any specific method of communication. See id. at~ 8. There was 
no discussion of independent expenditures. See id. at ,,9. 

At no time did this donor ask, insist, or require that any of the pledged funds be spent in 
any particular manner or on any particular or specific efforts or projects. See I d. at~ 10. Rather, 
this donor indicated to Mr. Rove that he was a supporter of Josh Mandel, and offered to donate 
funds toward Crossroad GPS's budget in the State of Ohio. Mr. Rove understood that the donor 
intended the pledged funds to be used in some manner that would aid the election of Josh 
Mandel. See id. at ~,1 5, I 0. 

The resulting "matching program" generated approximately $1.3 million; these funds 
were not solicited for any purpose other than for general use in the Stale of Ohio. See id. at ~13. 

The donor who issued the "matching challenge" never made a single contribution in the 
amount of $3 million. Rather, this donor contributed a larger amount to Crossroads GPS that 
was not in any way earmarked for any particular use. Upon receipt of this contribution, Mr. 
Rove understood that the donor did not intend the earlier "matching program" to be a formal 
program, but rather, was simply a way of encouraging Crossroads GPS's general fundraising 

efforts. See id. at ~ 14. 

C. Crossroads GPS 2012 Activity In Ohio 

CREW alleges that "Crossroads GPS spent $6,363,711 on independent expenditures 
opposing Sen. Brown in the Ohio Senate race." Complaint at~ 40. This figure comes from the 
Center for Responsive Politics' repackaging of FEC data. This total includes only Crossroads 
GPS's independent expenditures opposing Senator Brown's re-election, and does not reflect 
Crossroads GPS's total activity within Ohio during 2012, or its "Ohio budget." 

Crossl'oads GPS spent over $10 million on television advertising in Ohio in 2012 that 
mentioned one or both of the two candidates in the Senate race. Some ofthese advertisements 
were reported to the Commission as electioneering communications or independent 
expenditures, and those reports are on the public record. Other issue and policy advocacy ads 
did not fall into either category and were not required to be reported to the Commission. 
Production costs for these television ads amounted to approximately $1 50,000. Crossroads GPS 
also spent an additional $240,000 on online (Internet) advertising directed to Ohio residents, and 
approximately $43,000 on polling. 
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CREW's lazy reliance on the work of a third party aggregator yields incomplete 

information in its Complaint. While the $6.3 million figure conveniently corresponds to the $6 
million "matching" program that never fully existed, that figure represents only a bit over half of 
what Crossroads GPS actually spent. 

D. Crossroads GPS RFAI Response Dated July l9, 2011 

The Complaint makes much of a response to a Req.uest For Additional Information 
(RF AI) submitted on behalf of Crossroads GPS on July 19, 2011. That response speaks for 
itself, as does another substantially similar response filed by Crossroads GPS on November 29; 

2012, after CREW submitted its Complaint. 

Crossroads GPS is fully aware of its FEC reporting and discl.osure obligations and has 
endeavored to satisfy those obllg~tions at all times during its existence. Crossroads GPS has 
never failed to report contributions required to be reported under the Act and FEC regulations. 
CREW seeks to cast Crossroads GPS's July 19, 2011, response to a RFAI that should never have 
been sent as "proof.' of a knowing and willful violation of law. As demonstrated in this 

Response, however, there was no violation of the law, period. 

To the extent that the aforementioned R.FAI suggests that Crossroads GPS did not satisfy 

cettain disclosure obligations, we reiterate here that the canned language used by the Reports 
Analysis Division (RAD) badly misstates the disclosure requirement set forth at II C.F.R. §. 
I 09.1 O(e)( I )(vi). Rather than simply quote the regulation at issue, RAD uses an incorrect 

restatement of that regulation. 

In June 2011, the Commission sent to Crossroads G.PS a RFAI that was immediately 
available to the public via the Commission's website. that RFAI contained a poor restatement 
of II C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi) that very obviously does not track the language of the actual 
regulation. The media, either intentionally or lazily·, misunderstood and misreported. both the 
nature and meaning of the RFAI.5 The Commission never made any sort of public correction of 
this misstatement of law, and the RFAI remains on the public record. RAD has subsequently 
delivered RFAis featuring the same incorrect ll,mguage to a variety of entities. 

Crossroads GPS's RFAI·response was necessitated solely because the Commission 
publicly distributed a misstatement of the law, which has gone uncorrected. Now, the phony 
"watchdogs" at <;:REW believe they have found a way to turn Crossroads GPS's correction of the 

5 See, e.g., Alex Roarty, FEC Asks Crossroads to Reveal Donors, National Journal (June 16, 2011) 
available at http://www.nationaljournal,com/hotline/campaign-law-watch/fec-asks-crossroads~to-reveal
donors-20110616. 
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Commission's mistake into "evidence" of an alleged knowing and willful (i.e., criminal) 
violation of the law. 

E. American Crossroads vs. Crossroads GPS 

American Crossroads and Crossroads GPS are legally separate organizations. Nearly all 
ofthe specific material to which· CREW cites in its Complaint refers to "American Crossroads" 
fundraising and "American Crossroads" efforts, yet CREW's complaint is lodged against 
Crossroads GPS. CREW attempts to gloss over the distinction with the claim that "While Mr. 
Law and Mr. Barbour apparently used the name' Afr:'erican Crossroads' in their fundraising 
pitches, ... they evidently used it to mean both American Crossroads and Crossroads GPS." 
Complaint at~ 30 (emphasis added). This is pure speculation on CREW's part, and it is both 
apparent and evident that CREW has absolutely no personal knowledge of what Mr. Law or Mr. 
Barbour said or intended. 

The author of the two articles which serve as the sole basis of CREW's Complaint 
acknowledged in her interview with Democracy Now! that American Crossroads and Crossroads 
GPS are separate organizations. While Ms. Kolhatkar offered her own (incorrect) opinion that 
the two organizations share very similar missions, she nevertheless clearly understood .that there· 
are two organizations and she distinguished between them in her reports. Thus, there is 
absolutely no reason to pretend- as CREW does- that ei.ther Ms. Kolhatkar or Messrs. Law, 
Rove, and Barbour, carelessly used the term "American Crossroads" as some sort of catch-a.ll 
phrase th;it encompasses both groups. 

Th~ news articles written by Ms. Kolhatkar on which CREW relies indicate that Mr. Law 
and Mr. Barbour made separate, general solicitations of funds for American Crossroads, and not 
Crossroads GPS. This is entirely consistent with the fact that the August 30 meeting was hosted 
by American Crossroads. Based on these facts and Ms. Kolhatkar's acknowledged awareness of 
the separateness of the two organizations, the most reasonable conclusion to draw is that Mr. 
Law and Mr. Barbour actually meant what they said and solicited funds specifically for 
American Crossroads. Thus, to the extent that CREW's complaint pretends that attendees were 
orally solicited for contributions to Crossroads GPS, see, e.g., Complaint "Count IV", the 
evidence does not support that claim. 
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IV. Application of 11 C.F .. R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vil 

A. History of the Regulation 

Central to this matter is the proper application of II C.F.R. § 109.JO(e)(l.)(v"i), which 
require·s that persons other than political committees disclose on independent expenditure reports 
"the identification of each person who made a contribution in excess of $200 to the person filing 
such report, which contribution was made for the purpose of furthering the reported independent 
expenditure" (emphasis added). This regulation was adopted in 1980 and has not been 
substantively modified -since then.6 The 1980 Explanation and Justification indicates that "[t]his 
section has been ~mended to incorporate the changes set forth at 2 USC 434(c)(J) and (2) 
regarding reporting requirements for persons, other than a political committee, who make 
independent expenditures." Final Rules On Amendments to Federal Election Campaign Ac.t of 
1971, 45 Fed. Reg. 15,080, 15,087 (March 7, 1980). 

B. CREW's Suggestion That The Regulation .Does Not "Give Full Effect" To 
The Act Is .Irrelevant 

fn what is obviously a suggestion that the Commission shouiQ disregard the plain 
language of a regulation that has existed for over 30 years, CREW claims: 

The FEC's interpretation ofthe statute [2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2)(C)] fails to give full effect 
to these provisions. At a minimum, the statute requires identification of persons who 
made contributions "for the purpose of furthering an independent expenditure," but the 
regulation only requires identification of persons who made contributions "for the 

purpose of furthering the reported independent expenditure." 

Complaint at ,I 16 n.l. This argument is entirely irrelevant in an enforcement context. To. read 
the reporting requirement set forth at II C.F.R. § I 09.1 O(e)( I )(vi) as CREW suggests- which 
would apply a very different substantive standard -would require a formal rulemaking to amend 
the regulation. The FEC cannot conduct a rulemaking exercise under the guise of an 
enforcement matter, or otherwise disregard the language of a duly-enacted, longstanding 
regulation. One should not simply accept CREW's argument that the statute and corresponding 
regulation are inconsistent, or that the regulation does not adequately reflect Congressional 
intent. To do so is to conclude that CREW's self-serving reading of the 1979 Amendments to 

6 Prior to the BCRA-era revisions to the Commission's regulations, this provision was located at II 
C.F.R. § 109.2(a)(l)(vi). 
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the Act, 33 years later, is somehow more "correct" than the Commission's essentially 
contemporaneous interpretation ofthose Amendments in 1980. 

C. Operation of the Existing Regulation 

In a recent enforcement matter, three Commissioners explained that under Section 
109.JO(e){l)(vi), "a donation must be itemized on a non-political committee's independent 
expenditure rep011 only if such donation is made for the purpose of paying for the 

commuri ication that is the subject of the report." Statement of Reasons of Chairman Petersen 
arid Commissioners Hunter and McGahn in MUR 6002 (Freedom's Watch, Inc.) at 5. See also 
Findings of Fact in SpeechNow.org. v. FEC, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 89011 (D.D.C. Sept. 28, 
2009) at 22 ("52. Because SpeechNow does not accept any targeted or 'earmarked' funds, it need 
only disclose all of its co-ntributors who provided money 'for the purpose of furthering' its 
independent expenditures. Keating Decl. at P 36; 2 U.S.C. 434(c)(2)(C). For each independent 
expenditure SpeechNow were to make, SpeechNow would have to disclose all donors whose 
contributions were given for such purpose and were used to fund any portion of the independent 
expenditure at issue. /d."). 

The· professional campaign finance "reform" industry, with Representative Van Hollen 

serving as the named filer, recently submitted a petition for rulemaking to revise II C.F.R. 
§ 109.10(e){l)(vi). Even those who make their living as the FEC's greatest detractors recognize 

that the regulation can only be revised via the formal rulemaking process. In their rulemaking 
petition, the "reform" lobby describes Section 109.1 O(e)( I )(vi) as requiring "disclosure only of 

those contributors who state a specific intent to fund a specific ('the reported') independent 
expenditure." Rep. Van Hollen Petition for Rulemaking to Revise and Amend Regulations 
Relating to Disclosure of Independent Expenditures (April 21, 2011) at 3. Furthermore, the 
petition explains, "under the regulation, all contributions to the person making the independent 
expenditure that were not given for the specific purpose of furthering the specific reported 
independent expenditure are not required to be disclosed." /d. (emphasis in original). The 

petitioners also note: 

/d. at 4. 

Under present-day ll C.F.R. § I 09.1 O(e)(l )(vi), even if a contributor gave money to a 
person making independent expenditures with .knowledge tl:tat the contributed funds 
would be used for independent expenditures. a,nd specifically intended that the funds be 
used for that purpose, the contribution would still not be subject to disclosure under the 
regulation unless the contributor intended that the funds be earmarked and used for a 
specific independent expenditure. 
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Whit~ the existing regulation may be unpopular in some quarters at the moment, due to 
circumstances that changed decades after the regulation was adopted, there appears to be broad 

agreement across the spectrum with respect to what the existing ·regulation says, and how it 
operates in ·practice. 

D. Donative Intent 

As noted, the critical elements of Section I 09.1 O(e)( I )(vi) are (1) the intent of ~he donor 
in making a contribution, and (2) the specificity of that intent To the extent that any of the 
donors referenced in CREW's complaint actually made contributions to Crossroads GPS, 
CREW's various characterizations oftheir donative intent(s) should not be accepted by the 
Commission as fact. CREW has no personal knowledge of any ofthesc matters. Rather, any 
conclusions drawn by the Commission regarding the intent of any donors referenced in the 
Complaint must be drawn from .the actual evidence presented, and not from CREW's self

serving legal conclusions. 

Counts I, II, and Ill of CREW's complaint are based entirely on a brief passage from Ms. 
Kolhatkar's September 4, 2012, article, and her September 5 interview on Democracy Now!. All 
that CREW really knows about the supposed intent of the "unnamed out-of-state donor"
notwithstanding its sworn assertions that go well beyond this evidence- comes exclusively from 

these two sources. 

As explained above, CREW's "factual" claims abo.ut this supposed se·ries of transactions 
are badly flawed. The passage that appeared in Bloomberg Business Week indicates that the 
contribution was not made for the purpose of funding any particular advertisements. Rather, to 

the extent the donor's intent is described at all, the evidence indicates that the funds were 
intended as a general grant fo~ use in. Ohio. In the Democracy Now! in.terview, .Ms·. Kolhatkar's 
recounting indicates that the donor's intent was described as an intention to "donate half of their 
$6 million budget in the state." Again, nothing here demonstrates that any contribution was 
made for the. purpose of funding any particular advertisements, advertisements in general, or that 
the donor had any knowledge of any particular Crossroads GPS efforts. 

As noted above, the independent expenditures that Crossroads GPS reported making in 
connection with the 2012 Ohio Senate race were developed well ajier the conversation recounted 
in the Bloomberg BusinessWeek article and at 123 ofthe Complaint took place in Sprin~ 2012. 
There is also no evidence- and CREW does not suggest- that this "unnamed donor" and Mr. 
Rove discussed or otherwise developed advertisements during their conversation. In short,. there 
is no evidence and no suggestion that the unnamed donor "exercised control over how his [or 

her] contribution was spent." Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Bauerly and Commissioner 
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Weintraub in MUR 6002 (Freedom's Watch, ln·c.) at 2,.4. Accordingly, this donor could not 
possibly have had the requisite and specific intent"to finance the advertisements that Crossroads 
GPS subsequently created, aired, and reported. 

Furthermore, as Mr. Rove attests;the "unnamed donor" never made a single contribution 
in the amount of $3 million. Rather, that donor made a larger contribution that was not 
earmarked in any way. 

There is no basis to conclude, and CREW points to no actual evidence indicating, that 
Crossroads GPS financed any reported independent exp.end.iture "in whole or in part with funds 
donated for the purpose of furthering that particular advertisement." CREW's "information and 
belief' is not actual evidence- it is speculation and wishful thinking. There is no evidence 
presented in the Complaint (or anywhere else) that Crossroads GPS solicited or received funds 
for even the general purpose of making independent expenditures. At best, CREW's complaint 
lazily regurgitates a news articles that shows that an "unnamed donor" discussed providing funds 
for general use in a specified state. Far more specificity is required before Section 
I 09.1 O(e){l )(vi) is triggered. 

Nor is there is any evidence of any subsequent 11-ctions or events from which information 
regard in~ donative intent might conc·eivably be gleaned. Specifically, there is .no information 
indicating that any particular donor "parcel[led] out his money project by project," "rejected 
almost an of the staffs proposals that have been brought to him," or otherwise "exercised control 
over how his contribution was spent." Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Bauerly and 
Commissioner Weintraub in MUR 6002 (Freedom's Watch, Inc.) at 2, 4. 

V. Discussion of Legal Matters Raised In Complaint 

A. Complaint "Count I" 

"Count I" asserts that an individual made $3 million in contributions to Crossroads GPS 
that should have been disclosed on corresponding independent expenditure reports. The donor's 
supposed intent is described several different ways: 

• Paragraph 37 asserts that this person "made $3 million in contributions for the 
purpose of furthering the independent expenditures Crossroads GPS made in 
the Ohio Senate race." 

• Paragraph 38 asserts that this person "told Mr. Rove he was giving Crossroads 
GPS $3 million to spend on the Ohio Senate election between Sen. Brown and 
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Mr. Mandel. The donor further said the contribution was a 'matching 

challenge' to meet Crossroads GPS's $6 million budget for the state." 

• In Paragraph 39, CREW alleges, "on information and belief," that 
"Crossroads GPS received $3 million from the unnamed donor who 
contributed the money with the intent that it be spent on the Ohio Senate 
race." 

• Paragraph 41 alleges that Crossroads GPS' s ·independent expenditure reports 
failed to identify the person "who made $3 million in contributions for the 
purpose of furthering those independent expenditures." 

• Paragraph 42 alleges that Crossroads GPS "received $3 million in 
contributions from the unnamed donor for the purpose of furthering the 
reported independent expenditures in the Ohio Senate race." 

Contributions are reportable under Section 109.10(e)(l)(vi) only ifthe donor made the 
contribution "for the purpose of furthering the repor(ed independent expenditure." To the extent 
that CREW's various characterizations attempt to assert a standard different from the one set 
forth at Section 109.10(e)(l)(iv), those allegations should be ignored and ctismissed. The 

Commission could also reasonably conclude from CREW's varying descriptio.ns of the qonor's 
intent that CREW knows nothing about the subject. 

· l. Complaint~ 37 

The donor referenced in Paragraph 37 of the Complaint did not actually make a single 

contribution in the amount of $3 million. Rather, the donor contributed a larger amount that was 
not earmarked in any way. 

Paragraph 37 of the Complaint alleges that "Crossroads GPS knowingly and willfully 
failed to identify the person who made $3 million in contributions/or the purpose offilrthering 

the independent expenditures Crossroads GPS made in the Ohio Senate race." Complaint at, 
37 (emphasis added). As noted above, there is no evidence of any such intent. Even assuming 
for the sake of argument that the donor actually did contribute to Crossroads GPS ''for the 

purpose of furthering the independent expenditures Crossroads GPS made in the Ohio Senate 
race," that donative intent would create a reporting obligation under II C.F.R. § I 09.1 O(e)( I )(iv) 
only ifthe donor had specific knowledge of the actual independent expenditures referenced. 
Here, this is not possible. The advertisements that CREW erroneously alleges the donor funded 
were not created until well after the contributor don"ated the funds at issue. The contributor had 
no creative discussions with any representative of Crossroads GPS about these independent 

expenditures. 
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In other words, this donor played no role whatsoever in developing, creating, or funding 
any specific independent expenditure- rather, the donor simply pledged funds to be spent 

somehow in connection with the Ohio Senate race, and later made a larger donation with no 
strings attached. Even if we assume that the $3 million pledged earlier was subsumed within the 
larger donation made, Crossroads GPS was free to spend that amount in any way it wished so 
long as it somehow aided in the election of Josh Mandel. This general "purpose" does n.ot create 
any reporting obligation under II C.F.R. §I 09.1 O(e)( I )(vi) . 

.({Crossroads GPS had received a donation or contribution from a person, "which 
contribution was made forthe purpose of furthering the reported independent expenditure," then 
Crossroads GPS would have reported it as required by FEC regulations. However, no such 
contribution was made for such purpose, and accordingly, Crossroads GPS was not required to 
make any corresponding donor disclosure. 

2. Complaint~~ 38-42 

Paragraphs 38-42 of the Complaint purportedly provide the factual basis for CREW's 
Count I allegation. The Complaint, however, simply assumes the facts not in evidence that 
CREW believes would be necessary to show the violation alleged. CREW substitutes its own 
legal conclusions and "information and belier• as "facts" and plants them into a restatement of 
the regulatory provision it claims was violated. 

For example, at Paragraph 38, CREW claims that "[a]ri unnamed donor told Mr. Rove he 

was giving Crossroads GPS $3 million to spend on the Ohio Senate election between Sen. Brown 
and Mr. Mandel." This is decidedly not what this "unnamed donor told Mr. Rove." Mr. Rove's 
recounting of what this donor said to him is set forth in the Complaint at Paragraph 23. 

At Paragraph 42, CREW goes a step further and fabricates a key piece of information it 
believes is necessary to establish a violation. CREW claims that Crossroads GPS "received $3 
million in contributions from the unnamed donor for the purpose ojfurth~ring the reported 
independent expenditures in the. Ohio Senate race" (emphasis added). First, as explained above, 
Crossroads GPS never received a single contribution in the amount of $3 million from this 
donor. Second, there is absolutely no evidence in support of CREW's concocted assertions 

regarding the donor's purported intent or purpose. The disconnect between the vague recounting 
of a conversation _paraphrased in a news account and the specificity of CREW's allegation is 
readily apparent. The news report indicates that a donor reportedly said, "l•·eally like Josh 
Mandel," asked the size of a state budget, and said 'I'll give ya $3 milHon, matching challenge. 
From this, CREW concludes, in a sworn complaint no less, that this donor contributed ''for the 

purpose of furthering the reported independent expenditures in the Ohio Senate race." Aside 
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from the obvious impossibility of CREW knowing anything about this particular individ.ual'·s 
specific dona.tive intent, it is also wprth noting that "the reported independent expenditures" had 
not. even been conceived at the time the donor made. this statement. · 

B. Complaint""Count II" 

In "Count II," CREW refers to donors about whom it knows next to nothin~, and 
maintains that there are one or more donors out there somewhere who contributed a combined $3 
million to Crossroads GPS. Simply put, there was no ·''$3 million in 'matching' contributions." 
As explained above, one or more donors contributed a total·of approximately $1.3 million in 
connection with the Ohio matching program. 

As is the case in "Count 1," the intent of these unknown donors is described several 
different ways. 

• In Paragraph 43, CREW refers to "the persons who made $3 million .in 
'matching' contributions for the purpose offurthering the independent 
expenditures Crossroads GPS made in the Ohi·o Senate race." 

• Paragraph 44 claims that "[a]s of August 30,2012, Crossroads GPS was in the 
process of soliciting 'the other' $3 million in contriputions for spending in the 
Ohio Senate election." 

• l.n Paragraph 45, on CREW's "information and belief," "Crossroads GPS 

solicited and received $3 million in contributio.ns from donors given with the 
intention that the money be spent on the Ohio Senate race." 

• Paragraph 47 refers to "the persons who made $3 million in contributions as 
part of the 'matching challenge' for the purpose of furthering those 
independent expenditures." 

• Finally, in Paragraph 48, CREW claims that "Crossroads GPS had received $3 
million in contributions as part of the 'matching challenge' from donors for 
the purpose of furthering the reported independent expenditures in the Ohio 
Senate race." 

Based on the evidence presented and the Complaint itself, it is obvious that CREW has 

no Idea who these alleged donors might have been, how many there were, how much any of 
them gave individually, when they made these alleged ·contributions, or why they contributed. 
However, CREW is certain that they gave ''for the purpose of furthering the reported 
independent expenditures in the Ohio Senate race." There is no evidence presented to support 
this conclusion, and CREW has no relevant personal knowledge. 
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Where a complainant cannot provide credible details regarding "who," "what," and 
"when," it certainly cannot be relied upon to provide the "why." The allegations are not 

adequately substantiated under the "reason to believe" standard set forth in MUR 4960 (Hillary 
Clinton) and amount to "purely speculative charges ... [that] do not form an adequate basis to 

find reason to believe that a violation of the FECA has occurred." Statement of Reasons of 
Commissioners Mason, Sandstrom, Smith, and Thomas in MUR 4960 (Hillary Clinton). 
Furthermore, CREW's assertions regarding the specific intent of donors about which nothing 

else is known are so obviously fabricated that Ms. Sloan and Ms. Markley almost certainly 
falsely swore to the Verifications submitted with this Complaint. The rote prefacing of an 
assertion with the hedge "on information and belier• does not create a license to lie. 

"Count ll" of the Complaint alleges that "Crossroads GPS knowingly and willfully failed 
to identify the persons who made $3 .million in 'matching' contributions for the purpose of 
furthering the independent expenditures Crossroads GPS made in the Ohio Senate race." 
Complaint at 1/43; see also Complaint at 1J47. As explained above, there are no "persons who 
made $3 million in 'matching' contributions for the purpose of furthering the independent 

expenditures Crossroads GPS made in the Ohio Senate race," meaning Crossroads GPS could 
not possibly have "knowingly and willfully failed to identify" them. 

The donors who contributed approximately $1.3 million in connection with the matching 
program did not make those contributions "for the purpose of furthering the independent 

expenditures Crossroads GPS made in the Ohio Senate race." There is no evidence presented 
regarding any donor's intent. However, any funds solicited or received by Crossroads GPS in 
connection with the matching program were limited for subsequent use only to the extent that 

donors expected the funds would be spent somehow in Ohio. 

C. Complaint "Count III" 

Complaint "Count Ill" asserts a "conspiracy" to "violate the FECA and defraud the FEC 
by knowingly and willfully failing to identify" the donors/contributions referenced in Counts I 

and IL Complaint at 1/49. This allegation is presumably targeted to the FBI (and the media), as 
the Commission does not enforce 18 U.S.C. § 371. Nevertheless, the "facts" on which CREW 

premises its Counts I and II are badly flawed, and CREW presents no evidence of any 

wrongdoing or of any violation of the Act or Commission regulations. There can be no 
"conspiracy" to "violate the FECA" where there is no violation of FECA. 

Messrs. Rove, Law, and Crosby did not "unlawfully conspire[] to violate the FECA and 
defraud the FEC." See Complaint at 1J49. Nor did they "knowingly enter[] into an unlawful 
agreement to intentionally violate 2 U.S.C. § 434 and 11 C.F.R. §§ 109.1 O(b)- (e) and to 
defraud the FEC by failing to identify the person who made $3 million in contributions for the 
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purpose of furthering the independent expenditures Crossroads GPS made in the Ohio Senate 

race, and by failing to identify the persons who made $3 million in 'matching' contributions for 

the purpose of furthering those independent expenditures." See Complaint at~ SO. Neither Mr. 
Crosby, nor Mr. Law, nor Mr. Rove "committed overt acts to effect the object of the conspiracy 
in violation of 1·8 U.S.C. § 371 ,"nor "caused others to commit overt acts to effect" the same. 
See Complaint~~ 51-53. 

D. Complaint "Count IV" 

The allegations contained in "Count IV" of the Complaint should be dismissed outright. 
CREW alleges that "Crossroads GPS knowingly and willfully failed to identify the persons who 
made contributions for the purpose of broadcasting the advertisements shown at the August 30, 

2012 fundraiser or broadcasting other ads in those races." Complaint at ,I 54. On CREW's 
"information and belief, Crossroads GPS received contributions given with the intention that the 

money be spent on independent expenditures broadcasting the advertisements shown at the 
fundraiser or broadcasting other ads in the Ohio, Virginia, Montana, and Nevada Senate races." 
Complaint at~ 56. 

As noted above, the materials on which these particular allegations rest (i.e., Sheelah 
Kolhatkar's August 30 article) indicate that towards the end of the August 30 meeting, Mr. Law 
and Mr. Barbour made separate, general solicitations of funds for American Crossroad-;, not 

Crossroads GPS. 

Once again, the advertisements that were screened for attendees at the August 30 meeting 
were not screened for the purpose of seeking funding for them. Thirteen of fourteen ads had 
already been paid for and aired, and the fourteenth advertisement was never intended for public 
distribution. As a basic factual matter, no attendee could have contributed "for the purpose of 
broadcasting the advertisements shown at the August 30, 2012 fundraiser." In addition, the 
Complainant has presented no evidence whatsoever indicating that anyone in attendance actually 
made a contribution following the August 30 meeting, let alone made a contribution "for the 
purpose of ... broadcasting other ads in those races." To the extent CREW's allegations in 
"Count IV" are even a factual possibility, those allegations are "purely speculative" and should 
be dismissed pursuant to the Statement of Reasons in MUR 4960 (Hillary Clinton).("purely 
speculative charges, especially when accompanied by a direct refutation, do not form an 
adequate basis to find reason to believe that a violation of the FECA has occurred"). 

The allegations in "Count IV" that are not precluded as a basic factual matter amount to: 
"if someone in attendance at the August 30 meeting subsequently made a contribution to 
Crossroads GPS, and if that contribution was made "for the purpose of broadcasting ... other ads 
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in the Ohio, Virginia, Montana, and Nevada Senate races," then that person should have been 
reported on a Crossroads GPS report, and Crossroads GPS 'knowingly and willfully·' failed to do· 
so." Ther~ is no evidence for either o.fthese "ifs," and the aHeged donative purpose does. not 
create a di·sclosure requirement under Section 109.10(e)("l )(vi). At a minimum, a donor who is 

subject to disclosure under Section I 09.1 O(e)(l )(vi) must know what advertisement he or she is 
funding. A donation made for the far more general purpose of funding unspecified 
advertisements to be broadcast in a handful of states at some later date does not satisfy the 
requirement that the contribution be made "for the purpose of furthering the reported 
independent expenditure." Here, CREW simply engages in baseless speculation in the hopes the 
Commission will undertake an investigation. 

Nevertheless, Crossroads GPS did not solicit or receive, at any time~ .any contributions 
"for the purpose of ... broadcasting other ads in those races." 

E. Complaint "Count V" 

Finally, Complaint "Count V" asserts a "conspiracy" to "defraud the FEC by knowingly 
and willfully failing to identify" the donors/contribution·s referenced in "Count IV." Complaint 
at, 59. Like "Count ILl," "Count V" and its allegations based on 18 U .S.C. § 371, are 
presumably targeted to the FBl and the media; As explained above, "Count IV" does not 
identify any violation of the Act or Commission regulations or present any evidence of any 
"conspiracy" to violate any law. 

VI. .Conclusion 

For the reasons set forth above, CREW's complaint should be dismissed because it fails 
tq satisfy the standards set forth in MUR 4960 (Clinton). A.lt.ernatively, the Cornmissiort.shm.ild 
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find no reason to believe a violation of the .Act occurred. ln addition, Ms. Sloan and Ms. 
Markley should be referred to the appropriate authorities for i.nvestigation into whether they 
executed false Verifications in. connection. with the submitted Compl.aint. 

Sincerely, 

Thomas J. Josetiak 
Michael Bayes 

Counsel to Crossroads GPS,_ Karl Ro.ve, 
Haley Barbour •. Steven Law, and. Caleb 
Crosby 
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2124852789 10: 58:43 a.m. 01-17-2013

AFFIDAVIT OF KARL ROVE

PERSONALLY came and appeared before me, the undersigned Not :. , the within named KARL
ROVE, and makes this his Statement and General Affidavit upon oa :; nd affirmation of belief
and personal knowledge that the following matters, facts and things s ~ forth are true and correct
to the best of his knowledge: ,.

2/3

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

I am Karl Rove. I am an uncompensated advisor to Crossroa 1;' GPS and American
Crossroads, and have served in those capacities since 2010. .

~.

American Crossroads hosted an event on August 30, 2012, in :,. ampa, Florida. Invited
attendees included a variety of interested persons~ some ofw;, had previously made
donations, and some ofwhom had not previously made donatl~ s. Some of the persons
in attendance have never, to the present date, made a donatio ; 0 either Crossroads GPS
or American Crossroads. .

The recollection of a conversation I had with a donor regardi '. Crossroads GPS efforts in
Ohio that is recounted by Sheelah Kolhatkar in her two artie! {; in Bloomberg
BusinessWeek is substantially accurate. t
The conversation with the donor who issued the "matching ch~ lenge" took place in the
spring of2012. ~~

.1,

.During the conversation referenced in Paragraph 4 above, the ~. onor indicated that he was
a supporter of Josh Mandel, and offered to donate funds towa ~:. Crossroads GPS's budget

in the State of Ohio. I
The conversation referenced in Paragraph 4 above did not inel} de any discussion ofany
particular television advertisements, or television advertiseme~' ts in generaL There was
no discussion ofthe contents, timing, or targeting ofany actu . or hypothetical television
advertisements. i

The conversation referenced in Paragraph 4 above did not in ~,( de any discussion of
specific efforts that would or could be made by Crossroads Gl .
The conversation referenced in Paragraph 4 above did not inJde any discussion of
spending the donor's funds on any specific methods ofcomml ication.

The conversation referenced in Paragraph 4 above did not incIf.. de any discussion of
.~

independent expenditures.
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2124852789 10: 59: 14 a.m. 01-17-2013 3/3

<.

~ ,

·1·

10. During the conversation referenced in Paragraph 4 above, at time did the donor, ask,
insist or require that any of the pledged funds be spent in any' icular manner or on any
particular or specific efforts or projects. It was my understan ~ g, however, that the
donor intended the funds to be used in some manner that wo ~ aid the election of Josh
Mandel.

11. I had multiple conversations with Mr. Castellini during the s~:: ng and summer of2012.
One or more of these conversations included discussion of th tother donor's "matching
challenge."

~;:

12. Mr. Castellini participated in efforts to raise funds for Crossr t., ds GPS toward the
Hmatching challenge."

13. In total, approximately $1.3 million was raised in connection .~; ith this "matching"
program. These funds were not solicited for a particular purp:' e other than for general
use in Ohio. t

(

14. The donor who issued the "matching challenge," as reference; in Paragraph 4 above,
~.,

never made a single contribution of $3 milliont Rather, this ~ nor subsequently
contributed a larger amount to Crossroads GPS that was not i: apy way earmarked for
any particular use. Upon receipt of this donor's contribution, :: t was my understanding
that this donor did not intend the earlier "matching challenge'(to be a formal programt
Rather, it was my understanding that this person was simply:' ,couraging our general
efforts to raise funds.

"",

.-
" RILEAA. .. .......:., <~~

Nota .~ Publict State of New Yc'rk
~': No. 01J06172750 ~':::. ,"",

Qu .:fit;u in New York County.' .... '... "I"" ,~
Comml ,on Expires Augustr13, 2015·~'~.~ "

DATED this the 11 day ofJanuary, 2013

My Commission Expires:
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
999 E Street, NW 

Washington, DC 20463 

FIRST GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT O 
m I 

MUR: 6696 r 
DATE COMPLAINT FILED: NovemWP-l 5, Si2 
DATE OF NOTIFICATION: November 28, 2QJ2 
DATE OF LAST RESPONSE: January 18,20^3 
DATE ACTIVATED: April 3,2013 U3 

m 
__o 
om 
^>'2j 

com-:; 

o zz 

COMPLAINANT: 

RESPONDENTS: 

RELEVANT STATUTES: 

INTERNAL REPORTS CHECKED: 

FEDERAL AGENCIES CHECKED: 

EXPIRATION OF STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS: 
October 30,2017 
ELECTION CYCLE: 2012 

Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in 
Washington 

Melanie Sloan 
Nicholas Mezlak 

Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies 
Steven Law 
Karl Rove 
Haley Barbour 
Caleb Crosby 

2 U.S.C. § 434(c) 
11 C.F.R.§ 109.10 

Disclosure Reports; Commission Indices 

None 

34 1. INTRODUCTION 

35 The Complaint contends that Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies ("Crossroads") 

36 failed to disclose donors in certain independent expenditure reports that Crossroads filed with the 

37 Commission, in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434 and 11 C.F.R. §§ 109.10(b)-(e).^ The Complaint 

' An Amended Complaint was filed on April 24,2013. The Amended Complaint replaced Jessica Markley 
with Nicholas Mezlak as a complainant and included references to additional public filings made by Crossroads but 
did not assert any new substantive allegations. 

Am. Compl. at 11-14 (Apr. 24, 2013). 
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MUR 6696 (Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies) 
First General Counsel's Report 
Page 2 of 14 

1 further alleges that Crossroads was aware of its legal obligation to identify those donors, and that 

2 several, individuals associated with Crossroads — Steven Law, Karl Rove, .Haley Barbour, and 

3 Caleb Crosby — conspired to prevent disclosure of the donors' identities.^ Respondents argue 

4 that Crossroads was not required to disclose any contributions for the independent expenditures 

5 at issue because no donor made a contribution "for the purpose of furthering the reported 

6 independent expenditure."" 

7 As discussed, the record reflects that an unnamed individual contributed to Crossroads in 

8 furtherance of Crossroads' effort to support a clearly identified federal candidate. Nonetheless, 

.?[ 9 because the relevant information does not reasonably suggest that the donor made a contribution 

I 10 "for the purpose of furthering the reported independent expenditure," it does not appear that 

11 Crossroads was required to identify that contributor on its relevant independent expenditure 

12 report or reports under the applicable Commission regulation.' Likewise, with respect to the 

13 other reported independent expenditures in question, the facts alleged here do not support the 

14 conclusion that the applicable Commission regulation imposed an obligation on Crossroads to 

15 identify contributors in connection with those reports.® We therefore recommend that the 

16 Commission find no reason to believe that Crossroads violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) and 

17 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi). Further, to the extent the question is presented on these facts, we 

^ The Complaint and Responses make cross-allegations of criminal violations under Title 18, including 
conspiracy and false statements, each recommending that the Commission refer the other to the appropriate law 
enforcement authorities. See Compl.; Resp. at 2 (Jan. 18, 2013); Supp. Rcsp. at 1 (May 14,2013). We make no 
recommendation concerning alleged violations of federal criminal law outside the scope of the Commission's 
jurisdiction, nor do we see any basis warranting a Commission referral of any individual to another law enforcement 
agency in connection with this matter. See 2 U.S.C. § 437d(a)(9). Accordingly we recommend that the Commission 
close the file as to Steven Law, Karl Rove, Haley Barbour and Caleb Crosby. 

" Resp. at 2, 11-14 (citing 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi)). 

' 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi) (emphasis added). 

' Id. 
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1 recommend that the Commission dismiss in the exercise of prosecutorial discretion the allegation 

2 that Crossroads violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c.)(l). 

3 11. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

4 Crossroads is a non-profit organization established under section 501(c)(4) of the Internal 

5 Revenue Code.' It was formed as a Virginia corporation on June 2, 2010.* Steven Law is 

6 Crossroads' President, and Karl Rove is reportedly a co-founder, fundraiser, and an 

7 uncompensated advisor.' Caleb Crosby serves as Treasurer for Crossroads." Mississippi 

8 Governor Haley Barbour joined American Crossroads — a political committee registered with 

9 the Commission — in 2011 to serve .as a. fundraiser." 

I |i 10 The Complaint relies upon published accounts of a reporter who gained access to an 

11 August 30, 2012, fundraiser for Crossroads and American Crossroads.'^ According to those 

12 reports, Karl Rove, Haley Barbour, and Steven Law spoke before 70 donors and apparently 

13 solicited, contributions in connection with the presidential race and various senate races during 

' See Commonwealth of Va., State Corp. Comm'n, httDs://sccefile.scc.virginia.gov/Business/0723872 (last 
visited June 11,2013). 

Id. 

' See Am. Compl. at 3; Resp.,. Affidavit of Karl Rove ^ 1 ("Rove. AfF."). 

Am. Conipl., Ex. L (Letter from Caleb Crosby to Christopher Whyrick, RAD (Nov. 29, 2012)). 

" Am. Compl., Ex. A; see Cameron Joseph, Barbour to Join American Crossroads, THE HILL (Sept. 9,2011), 
liliD.7/lhehill.t:Qin/blogs/ballot-box/hi:esidentia)-raccsy 1.805.1.1 -barboui-to-ioin-amei:ican-ci6ssroads: 

See Sheelah Kolhatkar, Exclusive: Inside Karl Rove's Billionaire Fundraiser, BLOOMBERG BUSINESSWEEK, 
Aug. 31,2012, [hereinafter Kolhatkar, Rove Fundraiser] (Exhibit B of Amended Complaint); Sheelah Kolhatkar, 
Exclusive: How Karl Rove's SuperPAC Plays the Senate, BLOOMBERG BUSINESSWEEK, Sept. 4,2012, [hereinafter 
Kolhatkar, Rove SuperPAC] (Exhibit D of Amended Complaint); Interview with Sheelah Kolhatkar, DEMOCRACY 
Now (Sept. 5, 2012) (Exhibit C of Amended Complaint). 
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1 the 2012 election.'^ Rove also reportedly identified numerous states that could be competitive 

2 for Republicans. With respect to Ohio, the Complaint relies on the reporter's claim that 

3 Rove stated that he'd had a call from an unnamed out-of-state donor who told 
4 him, "I really like Josh Mandel," referring to the Ohio treasurer attempting to 
5 unseat Democrat Sherrod Brown. The donor, Rove said, had asked him what his 
6 budget was in the state; Rove told him $6 million. "T'll give ya $3 million, 
7 matching challenge,'" Rove said.the donor told him. "Bob Castellini,. owner of 
8 the Cincinnati Reds, is helping raise the other $3 million for that one."'^ 
9 

10 The Complaint notes that Crossroads later reported making $6,363,711 in independent 

11 expenditures in Ohio, which tlie Complaint contends involved funds that Crossroads raised as a 

12 result of the matching challenge Rove described during his speech.The Complaint further 

13 alleges that Rove's conversation with the Unnamed out-of-state donor conceming his support.for 

14 Mandel indicates that Crossroads should have disclosed in its independent expenditure reports 

15 the identity both of that donor and the donors who made $3 million in matching contributions. 

16 Because Crossroads did not identify any donors in ten reports disclosing independent 

17 expenditures in Ohio, the Complaint alleges that Crossroads violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 and 

18 11 C.F.R.§§ 109.10(b)-(e)."' 

19 In addition, the Complaint further asserts that at the August 30, 2012, fundraiser, 

20 Crossroads showed attendees advertisements targeting Senate candidates in Ohio, Virginia, 

" See Kolhatkar, Rove Fundraiser, supra\ Kolhatkar, Rove SuperPAC, supra. 

Id. 

" Kolhatkar, Rove SuperPAC, supra, at 2-3. 

Am. Compl. at 13. 

" 74. at 11-14. 

Id. 11 

Case 1:16-cv-00259-BAH   Document 8-6   Filed 04/15/16   Page 5 of 15



MUR 6696 (Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies) 
First General Counsel's Report 
Page 5 of 14 

1 Montana, Florida, Massachusetts, and Nevada and then solicited attendees for contributions.'® 

2 The Complaint notes that after the fundraiser, Crossroads filed 32 reports disclosing independent 

3 expenditures for broadcasting advertisements in Virginia, Montana, and Nevada.^" From these 

4 facts, the Complaint concludes that individuals present at the fundraiser made contributions for 

5 the purpose of furthering the advertisements in Virginia, Montana, and Nevada and should have 

6 been identified in Crossroads' independent expenditure reports.^' The Complaint alleges that 

7 Crossroads violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 and 11 C.F.R. §§ 109.10(b)-(e) by not doing so." 

8 The Response disputes the Complaint's recitation of facts and argues that Crossroads had 

9 no obligation to identify any contributors in connection with the challenged independent 

10 expenditure reports, as no donor made a contribution for the purpose of furthering a specific 

11 independent expenditure." The Response relies on a sworn affidavit of Karl Rove." Rove 

12 concedes in his affidavit that Kolhatkar's description of his conversation with the Ohio donor is 

13 "substantially accurate."^^ Rove states that the conversation took place in Spring 2012 and that 

14 the "donor indicated that he was a supporter of Josh Mandel, and offered to donate funds toward 

" Id. at 15. The Complaintstates that organizers of the fundraiser reportedly screened 14 television 
advertisements, which included ads "targeting Democratic Senate candidates in Virginia, Ohio, Montana, Florida, 
Massachusetts, and Nevada." Kolhatkar, Rove Fundraiser, supra. Some were Crossroads ads, and others were for 
American Crossroads. Kolhatkar, Rove SuperPAC, supra. After the ads were shown, the Complaint alleges that 
Law and Barbour solicited funds on behalf of both American Crossroads and Crossroads, and that Law specifically 
noted increases in advertising rates in connection with his solicitation. Am. Compl. at 8, IS, Ex. G (Paul 
Blumenthal, Karl Rove-Backed Groups Are Largest Single Outside Force in 2012, HUFFINGTON POST, Nov. 4, 
2012); Kolhatkar, Rove Fundraiser, supra, at 3. 

Am. Compl. at 16. 

Id. 

Id. 

" Resp. at 13. The Response further contends that the fundraising appeals in question were made on behalf 
of American Crossroads, not Crossroads. Id. at 19. 

Resp. at 7-8. 

" Rove Aff. H 3. 
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1 [Crossroads'] budget in the State of Ohio."^^ Rove asserts that the conversation did not "include 

2 any discussion of any particular television advertisements, or television advertisements in 

3 general," nor did it include any discussion of any "specific efforts" that Crossroads would take to 

4 support Mandel.^' Nonetheless, Rove understood "that the donor intended the funds to be used 

5 in some manner that would aid the election of Josh Mandel."^® Rove avers, however, that the 

6 unnamed donor never made a $3 million contribution; rather, the donor contributed a larger 

7 amount to Crossroads "that was not in any way earmarked for any particular use."^' 

j 8 With respect to the alleged matching challenge, Rove claims that the unnamed donor who 

i 9 extended the offer did not intend for the challenge to be a formal program; rather. Rove 

.1 10 understood that the donor wanted "simply [to] encourage[] our general efforts to raise funds."^® 
b 

11 Rove further avers that Crossroads raised $ 1.3 million for "general use in Ohio" as a result of the 

12 matching challenge.^' 

13 Concerning the independent expenditure reports addressing Crossroads^funded 

14 broadcasts in Virginia, Montana, and Nevada, the Response contends no donor contributed 

15 money specifically to fund those advertisements.^^ Further, none of the donors who attended the 

16 August 30, 2012, fiuidraiser made contributions to further any of the fourteen ads displayed 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

Id. H 5. 

7^^11116-7. 

Id. II 10. 

Id II 14. 

Id. 

Id H 13. 

Resp. at 5-6. 
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1 during the event.^^ Indeed, 13 of the 14 advertisements at issue were fully "paid for and aired" 

2 before the August 30,2012, fundraiser, and the 14th advertisement was shown to a focus group 

3 and not publicly aired at all.^" The Response also asserts that Law and Barbour did not solicit 

4 funds on behalf of both Crossroads and American Crossroads at the fundraiser; rather, their 

5 solicitations related specifically and solely to American Crossroads " 

6 The Response further asserts that, contrary to the representations in the Complaint, 

7 Crossroads spent over S10 million in Ohio on TV ads mentioning one of the two U.S. Senate 

8 candidates.^® The Response represents that these ads included either independent expenditures 

9 or electioneering communications and "[o]ther issue and policy advocacy ads [that] did not fall 

10 into either category and were not required to be reported Production costs for those ads 

11 not required to be reported totaled approximately $ 150,000.^® The Respondents explain that the 

12 Complaint's $6.4 million figure includes only funds that Crossroads spent on independent 

13 expenditures that opposed Senator Brown.^' 

14 The Complaint also contends that the Respondents' violations were knowing and willfiil. 

15 It cites responses to Requests for Additional Information ("RFAls") sent to Crossroads that were 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

Id. 

Id. at 6. 

Id at 10. 

Rcsp. at 8. 

Id. Commission disclosure reports confirm that Crossroads spent approximately $6.4 million on 
independent.expenditures in Ohio. Although the Response here suggests that Crossroads may have spent some, 
amount of money in connection with electioneering communications, Crossroads has not filed any electioneering 
communication reports in connection with its Ohio activities. As such, it remains unclear how Crossroads spent that 
additional $3.6 million in Ohio beyond those funds it claims were committed to independent expenditures in the 
state. 

Id. 

Id. 
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1 issued in connection with other Crossroads independent expenditure reports."" Those notices 

2 informed Crossroads that it had failed to itemize any contributions in its independent expenditure 

3 reports."' The June 2011 and October 2012 RFAIs stated that Crossroads was required to 

4 disclose identification information for each individual who made a donation in excess of $200 

5 "used to fund the independent expenditure[s].""^ In its response, Crossroads asserted that the 

6 RFAIs misstated the law and that Crossroads neither solicited nor received contributions "for the 

7 purpose of furthering the reported independent expenditure.""^ Moreover, Crossroads declared 

8 that it understood the applicable reporting regulations and that any omission of contributor 

9 information in future reports "should not be assumed to be an oversight.""" The legal position 

10 Crossroads described in its responses to the RFAIs is therefore consistent with the position the 

11 Respondents take concerning the allegations raised here. 

12 III. LEGAL ANALYSIS 

13 An independent expenditure is an expenditure that expressly advocates the election or 

14 defeat of a clearly identified federal candidate and "that is not made in concert or cooperation 

15 with or at the request or suggestion of such candidate, the candidate's authorized political 

16 committee, or their agents, or a political party committee or its agents.""^ The Federal Election 

See Am. Compl. at 15-16. 

See Letter from Christopher Whyrick, PEC to Crossroads (June 14,2011) C'June 2011 RFAI") (Exhibit I of 
Amended Complaint); Letter from Christopher Whyrick, PEC to Crossroads (Oct. 25,2012) ("Oct. 2012 RFAI") 
(Exhibit K of Amended Complaint); Letter from Christopher Whyrick, PEC to Crossroads (Apr. 9, 2013) ("Apr. 
2013 RPAl") (Exhibit M of Amended Complaint). 

" June 2011 RFAI at 1; October 2012 RFAI at 2. 

See Letter from Thomas Joseflak to Christopher Whyrick, PEC at 1 (June 19, 2011) ("June 2011 Resp.") 
(Exhibit J of Amended Complaint); Letter from Caleb Crosby to Christopher Whyrick, PEC (Apr. 10.2013) 
(Exhibit N of Amended Complaint). 

June 2011 Resp. at 2. 

2 U.S.C. §431(17). 
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1 Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act") requires persons, other than political committees, 

2 to report independent expenditures that exceed $250 during a calendar year.'*® Such a report 

3 must include, among other information, "the identification of each person who made a 

4 contribution in excess of $200 to the person filing such statement which was made for the 

5 purpose of furthering an independent expenditure."''^ The Commission's implementing 

6 regulation provides that an independent expenditure report must, include "[t]he identification of 

7 each person who made a contribution in excess of $200 to the person filing such report which 

8 contribution was made for the purpose of furthering the reported independent expenditure."^® 

9 Relying on the language of the Commission's regulation, the Response argues that 

10 Crossroads must only disclose the identity of those donors who make a contribution intending 

11 that those funds be used to further a specific advertisement: 

12 At a minimum, a donor who is subject to disclosure under Section 
13 109.10(e)( 1 )(vi) must know what advertisement he or she is funding. A 
14 donation made for the far more general purpose of funding unspecified 
15 advertisements in a handful of states at some later date does not satisfy the 
16 contribution be made "for the purpose of furthering the reported 
17 independent expenditure. 

18 This Office previously addressed the scope of disclosure required under Section 434(c) of 

19 the Act and Section 109.10(e)(l)(vi) of the Commission's implementing regulations in 

W. § 434(c)(1); n C.F.R. § 109.10(b). 

" 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2)(C) (emphasis added). 

11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(I)(vi) (emphasis added). In 2011, Rep. Chris Van Hollen petitioned the Commission 
to revise section 109.10(e)(l)(vi), arguing that it "requires disclosure only of those contributors who state a specific 
intent to fund a specific ('the reported') independent expenditure." Rep. Chris Van Hollen, Petition for Rulemaking 
at 3 (Apr. 21,2011) ("Van Hollen Petition"). In response, this Office submitted to the Commission a draft notice of 
proposed rulemaking proposing to amend section I09.10(e)(l)(vi). The proposal would have required disclosure of 
all contributors who make a contribution for the purpose of furthering "an" independent expenditure. See Draft 
Notice of Proposed Rulemaking for Independent Expenditure Reporting at 7 (Dec. 15,2011) ("Draft Notice"). The 
Commission did not approve the proposal for publication in the Federal Register. 

Resp. at 20 (emphasis in original). 
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1 In that matter, the Commission approved our 

2 recommendation not to open a matter where there was no information that a 501 (c)(4) 

3 organization received "donations tied to a specific independent expenditure."^" We concluded 

4 that Section 434(c) may reasonably be construed to require disclosure of the identity of certain 

5 contributors regardless of whether the contributor, made a contribution to further a specific 

6 independent expenditure. Nonetheless, we explained that the regulatory language of section 

7 109.10(e)( 1 )(vi) "appears to require an express link between the receipt and the independent 

8 expenditure."^' Nothing in the record before the Commission indicated that a donor had made a 

9 contribution for the purpose of funding the reported independent expenditure or otherwise 

10 triggering disclosure under Section 434(c).^^ Acknowledging the difficulty of resolving the 

11 question through an enforcement action and given the lack of information suggesting had 

12 received a contribution that would require disclosure under any construction of Section 434(c), 

13 this Office recommended that the Commission not open a matter, and the Commission approved 

14 that recommendation. 

so 

" Id. As we further explained, paragraph (c)(1) of the same provision of the Act may impose additional 
reporting obligations — namely, that every person (other than a political committee) who makes independent 
expenditures in excess of $250 must file a report identifying each person who, for the purpose of influencing a 
federal election, made a contribution to that person in excess of $200 in a calendar year, regardless of whether the 
contribution was made for the purpose of furthering an independent expenditure. See id. at 7-8 (citing FEC v. 
Massachusetts Citizens for Life, 479 U.S. 238,262 (1986)). 

Id. at 3-5, 11. In its disclosure reports filed with the Commission, the respondent in had 
identified two contributors who had made contributions — of $3,500 and $500, respectively — to further the 
independent expenditures that were, the subjects of its reports. See id. at 3.6. With respect to the remaining 
independent expenditures in question, argued in the enforcement proceeding that it used general treasury funds 
to pay for its independent expenditures and asserted that it would be impossible to identify other individuals who 
donated funds tied to any specific independent expenditure. Id. at 3. 

53 
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1 Here, although Rove contends that the donor subsequently contributed a different amount 

2 not tied to any stated purpose,'^ the initial discussion concerning the proposed contribution —"I 

3 really like Josh Mandel I'll give ya 3 million " — was at least specific enough that 

4 Rove understood that the donor proposed to make a contribution to Crossroads for it to use to 

5 support the election of Josh Mandel." Nonetheless, a donor's general purpose to support an 

6 organization in its efforts to further the election of a particular federal candidate does not itself 

7 indicate that the donor's purpose was to further "the reported independent expenditure" — the 

8 requisite regulatory test. 

9 The record also fails to support a reasonable inference that any persons made 

10 contributions in response to the matching challenge for the purpose of furthering the ten reported 

11 independent expenditures in Ohio. The Complaint alleges that Crossroads spent $6.4 million in 

12 independent expenditures opposing Senator Brown in the Ohio Senate race. Even if true, 

13 however, that fact would not advance the claim that, as a result of the matching challenge, 

14 Crossroads received funds from a donor for the purpose of furthering Crossroads' reported 

15 independent expenditures in Ohio. 

16 The Complaint also alleges that Crossroads failed to disclose the identities of persons 

17 who attended the August 30, 2012, fundraiser and made contributions relating to the 14 

18 television advertisements shown at the fundraiser in connection with the 32 independent 

" 5eeRove Aff.TI 14. 

" See Rove Aff. H 10. Consistent with the position of this Office in litigation concerning similar regulatory 
language, when considering the donor's purpose under 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi), we construe the available 
record using objective standards and in light of all the circumstances. Cf. FEC Mem. of P.&A. in Supp. of Mot. for 
Summ. J. at 33, Fow Hollen v. FEC, Civ. No. 00766 (Aug. 1,2011) (contending that similar regulatory language 
concerning disclosure of identity of donors for electioneering communications "does not rely solely on statements 
(public or private) by donors, but applies objective standards to determine which donations meet the regulatory 
standard."); FEC Resp. to PL's Supplemental Mem. at 2, Van Hollen v. FEC, Civ. No. 00766 (Apr. 29,2013) 
(same). Because the test is an objective one, the stated purpose of the donor may be a relevant fact, but it is not 
necessarily dispositive. 
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1 expenditures Crossroads reported for Virginia, Montana, and Nevada. Crossroads represents that 

2 none of the contributions received at the event were for the purpose of furthering those 

3 communications.^® Moreover, Crossroads explains that 13 of the advertisements were broadcast 

4 and fully paid for before August 30, 2012, and that the 14th never aired, which further tends to 

5 support Crossroads' assertion that it did not receive contributions for the purpose of furthering 

6 those communications. Consequently, there is no basis to conclude on these facts that 

7 Crossroads received contributions from individuals at the fundraiser for the purpose of furthering 

8 Crossroads' reported independent expenditures in Virginia, Montana, and Nevada as alleged. 

9 We therefore recommend that the Commission find no reason to believe that Crossroads 

10 violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) or 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi) when it filed independent 

11 expenditure reports without identifying any donors who contributed to Crossroads with the 

12 purpose of furthering the reported independent expenditures.®' 

13 Finally, as we have explained. Section 434(c)(1) of the Act may impose additional 

14 reporting obligations for certain contributions made for the purpose of influencing a federal 

15 election generally.®® The Commission's regulation at 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e) is silent concerning 

" Resp. at5,6, 19. 

" Although we conclude that the record before the Commission does not indicate that Crossroads violated the 
regulatory standard for disclosure of donors in connection with its independent expenditure reporting, we note that 
2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) specifically mandates disclosure of the identity of those who contribute for the purpose of 
furthering "an independent expenditure," an arguably more expansive approach. See First Gen. Counsel's Rpt. at 2, 

The Commission promulgated 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi) specifically to address Section 434(c), 
however, and thus it constitutes the Commission's controlling interpretation of the statutory provision it implements. 
See Reporting of Independent Expenditures by Persons Other Than a Political Committee, 45 Fed, Reg. 15,087 
(Mar. 7, 1980) (stating that 11 C.F.R § 109.2 [subsequently renumbered 109.10] "has been amended to incorporate 
the changes set forth at 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(1) and (2)"). Accordingly, our recommendation that the Commission find 
no reason to believe Crossroads violated the independent expenditure reporting regulation at 11 C.F.R. 
§ 109.10(e)( 1 )(vi) applies with equal force to the alleged violation of the independent expenditure reporting 
provision it implements at 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2). 

S8 
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1 any such additional reporting requirement. Because the record here does not suggest a basis to 

2 find a violation of the regulatory standard at 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi) under its plain terms, a 

3 Respondent could raise equitable concerns about whether a filer has fair notice of the requisite 

4 level of disclosure required by law if the Commission attempted to impose liability under 

5 Section 434(c)(l).^' Accordingly, to the extent that the facts here may also give rise, to a claim 

6 that Crossroads allegedly violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(l),®° we recommend that the Commission 

7 dismiss that allegation as a prudential matter in the exercise of its prosecutorial discretion.®' 

8 * * * 

9 For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that the Commission find no reason to believe 

10 that Crossroads violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi), dismiss the 

11 allegation that Crossroads violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(1), and close the file in this matter. 

12 IV. RECOMIVIENDATIONS 

13 1. Find no reason to believe that Crossroads Grassroots Policy Strategies violated 
14 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(2) and 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(l)(vi); 

15 2. .Dismiss in the exercise of prosecutorial discretion the allegation that Crossroads 
16 Grassroots Policy Strategies violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(c)(1); 

17 3. Close the file as to Steven Law, Karl Rove, Haley Barbour and Caleb Crosby. 

18 4. Approve the attached Factual and Legal Analysis; 

19 5. Approve the appropriate letters; and 

" Id. at 10 ("In short, although certain disclosures appear to be required by the Act and MCFL, the 
Commission regulations concerning the disclosure requirements of the Act for QNCs can reasonably be interpreted 
as too narrow to provide sufficient notice to QNCs regarding what they must disclose."); 

" See Compl. at 4-5 & n.l (reciting language of disclosure obligations under Sections 434(c)(1) and (c)(2) 
and asserting that Commission's regulatory interpretation "fails to give full effect to these provisions"). 

See Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821, 831 (1985). 
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6. Close the file. 

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 

Date: 3/7/7 
^ai^i K.l?eSlar 

Associate Cieneral Counsel 

Mark Shonkwiler 
Assistant General Counsel 
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